Public Document Pack

Cabinet Agenda
Monday, 6 March 2017 at 6.00 pm
Muriel Matters House, Breeds Place, Hastings, East Sussex, TN34 3UY
For further information, please contact Michael Courts on 01424 451764 or email
mcourts@hastings.gov.uk
Page No.
1.

Apologies for Absence

2.

Declarations of Interest

3.

Notification of any additional items

4.

Minutes of the meeting held on 6 February 2017 and the Budget
Cabinet meeting held on 13 February 2017

1 - 10

5.

Local List of Heritage Assets

11 - 22

(Monica Adams-Acton, Assistant Director Regeneration and
Culture)
(Cabinet Decision)
6.

Potential Sports Village Development

23 - 50

(Simon Hubbard, Director of Operational Services)
(Cabinet Decision)
7.

Hastings Off-Street Parking Infrastructure Improvements

51 - 54

(Mike Hepworth, Assistant Director Environment and Place)
(Cabinet Decision)
8.

Public Space Protection Order for Hastings

55 - 104

(Mike Hepworth, Assistant Director Environment and Place)
(Cabinet Decision)
9.

Improving the Hastings Street Scene
(Mike Hepworth, Assistant Director Environment and Place)
(Cabinet Decision)

10.

Additional Urgent Items (if any)

Corporate & Democratic Services
www.hastings.gov.uk/meetings

105 - 114

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item
4 Document Pack
Public
CABINET

6 FEBRUARY 2017
Present: Councillors Chowney (Chair), Forward, Cartwright, Poole, Davies,
Fitzgerald, Lee and Patmore
62.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

The following Councillors declared an interest in the minutes:
Councillor
Forward

Minute
65 – The Firs Former
Football Ground

Fitzgerald

65 – The Firs Former
Football Ground

Interest
Prejudicial – she is a
Trustee of the Education
Futures Trust
Prejudicial

The Director of Operational Services declared an interest in minute number 65.
63.

MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 9 JANUARY 2017
RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting held on 9 January 2017 be
approved and signed by the Chair as a correct record
RESOLVED the Chair called over the items on the agenda, under rule 13.3
the recommendations set out in minute number 64 were agreed without
being called for discussion

64.

EXTERNAL AUDITOR APPOINTMENT

The Assistant Director, Financial Services and Revenues, submitted a report which
sought authorisation to opt into the national public sector scheme for the appointment
of auditors.
Under the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014, the council was required to appoint
external auditors. The council could appoint external auditors either by opting into the
Public Sector Audit Appointments (PSAA) scheme, or by establishing an auditor panel
and carrying out its own procurement exercise.
The report recommended that the council opt into the PSAA scheme. Opting into the
scheme would minimise risks to the council by ensuring that external auditors were
appointed in a timely fashion, using fewer resources than the alternative
arrangements.
Regulation 19 of the Local Audit (Appointing Person) Regulations 2015 specified that
a decision to opt in to the PSAA scheme must be made by Full Council.

Page
11
CAB.

CABINET
6 FEBRUARY 2017
RESOLVED to recommend to Full Council that this council opts in to the
appointing person arrangements made by Public Sector Audit
Appointments (PSAA) for the appointment of external auditors
The reason for this decision was:
An external auditor for the audit of accounts for 2018/2019 must be appointed before
the end of 2017. The decision of Full Council is required.
65.

THE FIRS FORMER FOOTBALL GROUND

Councillors Forward and Fitzgerald, having declared a prejudicial interest in this item,
left the chamber during the debate. The Director of Operational Services also left the
chamber.
The Assistant Director, Financial Services and Revenues, presented a report which
sought approval to grant a lease of the Firs Former Football Ground to the Education
Futures Trust.
The site, which had not been in use as football ground since 2004, was currently
occupied by the Education Futures Trust. The Trust had approached the council
about extending its activities at the site.
The Trust aimed to promote education, working closely with vulnerable young people
and adults across Hastings, Rye and surrounding areas. The proposal was to create
a therapeutic and outdoor learning facility at The Firs site, combined with an area for
community access and use. A draft business plan was appended to the Assistant
Director, Financial Services and Revenues, report. Members noted that the Trust had
engaged extensively with the local community and had received significant support for
their proposals.
The report proposed granting a 25 year lease of the site to Trust, delegating authority
to the Chief Finance Officer, in consultation with the Leader of the Council, to agree
the detailed Heads of Terms for any agreement.
Members welcome a proposal which would ensure the site remained available for
community and charitable use, whilst securing an additional income stream for the
council.
Councillor Chowney proposed approval of the recommendations to the Assistant
Director, Financial Services and Revenues report, which was seconded by Councillor
Lee.
RESOLVED (unanimously) that: 1. Cabinet agrees to grant a lease of the Firs Former Football Ground to
Education Futures Trust, and;
2. Cabinet delegates to the Chief Finance Officer, in consultation with the
Leader of the Council, the authority to agree the final terms of the lease
The reason for this decision was:
CAB. 2

Page 2

CABINET
6 FEBRUARY 2017
The lease is a viable solution for this unused site and will ensure that it receives
investment so it can serve as a multi-use and community facility for the town into the
suture.
66.

PAY POLICY STATEMENT

The Director of Corporate Services and Governance submitted a report on the pay
policy statement for 2017/18.
Under the Localism Act 2011, the council was required to prepare and publish a pay
policy statement each financial year. The statement provided information on issues
related to the pay of the council’s workforce, and complied with guidance issued by
the Department for Communities and Local Government. The council would also look
to ensure that the ratio of pay at the top to pay at the median did not exceed the
national average for the public sector.
The statement required approval by Full Council prior to publication.
Councillor Cartwright proposed approval of the recommendations to the Director of
Corporate Services and Governance’s report, which was seconded by Councillor
Poole.
RESOLVED (unanimously) that Cabinet recommends the Pay Policy to Full
Council for approval
The reason for this decision was:
The Localism Act 2011 requires Hastings Borough Council to prepare and publish an
annual pay policy statement. The purpose of such a statement is to provide
information about council policies on a range of issues relating to the pay of its
workforce, particularly its senior staff and its lowest paid employees. A Pay Policy
must be prepared for each financial year and must be approved by Full Council, and
published.
67.

MINUTES OF THE MUSEUMS COMMITTEE MEETING HELD ON 28
NOVEMBER 2016

The minutes of the Museums Committee held on 28 November 2016 were submitted.
RESOLVED that the minutes of the Museums Committee held on 28
November 2016 be received

(The Chair declared the meeting closed at. 6.23 pm)

CAB. 3

Page 3

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 4

Public Document Pack
BUDGET CABINET

13 FEBRUARY 2017
Present: Councillors Chowney (Chair), Forward, Cartwright, Davies, Poole,
Fitzgerald, Lee and Patmore

68.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

The following Councillors declared an interest in the minutes:
Councillor
Chowney

69.

Minute
71 – Revenue Budgets
2016-17 (Revised) and
2017-18, plus Capital
Programme 2017-18 to
2019-20.

Interest
Prejudicial (if car
parking fees and
charges are discussed)
– he holds a season
ticket for Grand Parade
car park.

NOTIFICATION OF ANY ADDITIONAL ITEMS

The council had received a petition, as part of the public consultation on the draft
corporate plan and budget, objecting to the proposed closure of public conveniences
in Ore Village and Harold Place.
The lead petitioner, Stephanie Gaunt, presented the petition to Cabinet. She
explained that the public conveniences in Ore village were well used by the local
community, and there was a lack of suitable alternative facilities if they were closed.
The building itself was well maintained and in a good state of repair. The local
community had also expressed concern at the proposed closure of Harold Place
toilets.
Councillor Chowney responded that it was intended to delete the proposal to close
Ore Village toilets from the draft budget. The proposal to close Harold Place toilets
would remain in the draft budget.

RESOLVED the Chair called over the items on the agenda, under rule 13.3
the recommendations set out in minute numbers 70 and 72 were agreed
without being called for discussion
70.

DRAFT CORPORATE PLAN 2017/18 TO 2019/20

The Director of Corporate Services and Governance submitted a report in respect of
the draft corporate plan for 2017/18 to 2019/20.

Page
51
CAB.

BUDGET CABINET
13 FEBRUARY 2017
The corporate plan set out the council’s strategic direction for the coming year. The
layout and format of the draft corporate plan had been refreshed to make the
document more accessible. The plan was set out in 5 thematic areas, which reflected
the council’s priorities, under which were the key activities to be undertaken to achieve
them.
The report also gave an overview of the responses received during the public
consultation period. Detailed comments had been sought from a range of community
organisations in the town, and a more general public consultation had also been
undertaken.
Budget Council would be asked to approve the draft corporate plan, together with the
supporting budget, at its meeting on 22 February 2017.
RESOLVED that: 1. The Cabinet recommends to the Council, that the content of the
documents attached to the Director of Corporate Services and
Governance’s report for the basis of the council’s corporate plan 2017/18
– 2019/20, subject to the proviso that any significant amendment made to
the council’s draft budget be reflected in the final corporate plan text;
2. Delegated authority be given to the Director of Corporate Services and
Governance, after consultation with the Leader of the Council to make
further revisions as is considered necessary to the attached plan prior to
publication to reflect decisions made on the council’s budget, and;
3. All who submitted views as part of the consultation process be thanked
for their contributions.
The reason for this decision was:
The council needs to approve the corporate plan as it is a statement of Hastings
Borough Council’s strategic direction to 2020.
71.

REVENUE BUDGETS 2016-17 (REVISED) AND 2017-18, PLUS CAPITAL
PROGRAMME 2017-18 TO 2019-20

The Assistant Director, Financial Services and Revenues, presented the revenue
budgets 2016/17 (revised) and 2017/18, plus the capital programme 2017/18 to
2019/20.
The revised budget set out variations in income and expenditure since the budget was
set in February 2016.
The report acknowledged continued reductions to the council’s external funding, and
the ongoing activities which were being undertaken to achieve efficiency savings and
generate additional income. These activities had resulted in the call on the council’s
reserves to balance the 2017/18 budget being significantly less than originally
anticipated.
CAB. 2

Page 6

BUDGET CABINET
13 FEBRUARY 2017
The Assistant Director, Financial Services and Revenues, advised of an amendment
to the draft budget in respect of additional expenditure under the countryside
stewardship budget. As a result, the total call on reserves would increase to £76,000.
The final settlement figures had not yet been received from the government, along
with the Disabled Facility Grants and Discretionary Housing Payments, and it may
therefore be necessary to adjust the figures set out in the draft budget.
The Leader of the Council advised of two further amendments to the budget
proposals. The council would continue to provide funding to the Dial-A-Ride service
for a further year. Over the coming year the council would work with the operator of
Dial-A-Ride to explore opportunities to make the service more sustainable, including
commercial sponsorship. The proposal to close the public conveniences at Ore
Village was also deleted from the draft budget.
Councillor Chowney proposed approval of the recommendation to the Assistant
Director, Financial Services and Revenues, report subject to the above amendments,
which was seconded by Councillor Davies.
RESOLVED (by 6 votes for, 0 against, with 2 abstentions) that Cabinet
recommend to Full Council to: 1. Approve the revised revenue budget 2016/17 (Appendix A).
2. Approve the draft 2017/18 revenue budget (Appendix A).
3. Approve a 2.04% (£5 for a Band D property) increase in the
Borough Council’s part of the Council Tax.
4. Agree that the absolute minimum level of reserves that shall be
retained be £5m (plus General Fund Balance) i.e. no change from
2016/17.
5. Approve the Capital Programme 2016/17 (revised) to 2019/20
(Appendix P).
6. Approve the proposed expenditure from the Renewal and Repairs
Reserve, and Information Technology Reserve (Appendices J and I
respectively) and those items for other reserves shown in Appendix
H that can proceed without further reference to Cabinet or Council.
7. Approve that the use of monies in the budget and Reserves for
“Invest to Save” schemes be determined by the Assistant Director,
Financial Services and Revenues, in consultation with the Leader
of the Council.
8. Approve the revised Land and Property Disposal Programme
(Appendix L), and agree that disposals can be brought forward if
market conditions make it sensible to do so.
9. Agree that schemes marked with an asterisk in the Capital
Programme can proceed without further reference to Cabinet or
Council.
10. Agree that work on Priority Income and Efficiency Reviews (PIER)
should continue, and where possible identify a sustainable budget
for a period in excess of one year. A mid-year review, for members
and officers, to be undertaken in the light of the continuing severe
government grant reductions.
CAB. 3

Page 7

BUDGET CABINET
13 FEBRUARY 2017
11. Approve the Car Parking charges for 2017/18 as detailed in
Appendix N.
12. Approve the detailed recommendations in Appendix M, which relate
to the setting of the Council Tax in accordance with Sections 31 to
36 of the Local Government Act 1992 (updated for Full Council).
13. Approve that the budget be amended as necessary to reflect the
final grant figures from government (once received) and in respect
of Discretionary Housing Payments and Disabled Facility Grants.
14. Approve the reduction for the Council Tax Prescribed Class D
Properties i.e. those which are vacant and are undergoing “major
repair work” or “structural alteration” to nil %.
The reason for this decision was:
1. Major reductions in funding in 2017/18 are set to continue to 2019/20 and
beyond and this will impact heavily upon the council’s ability to provide services
and grants across all areas of existing activity.
2. Since 2010/11 funding has been reduced by more than 50% in cash terms on a
like for like basis. To ensure key corporate priorities are achieved it remains
imperative that the limited resources available are properly targeted.
3. The council needs to be in a position to match its available resources to its
priorities across the medium term and maintain sufficient reserves and capacity
to deal with potentially large and unexpected events in addition to fluctuations
in income and expenditure levels.
4. The council is exposed to a much greater degree of volatility in the level of
funding it receives in Non-Domestic Rates. In addition it is also exposed to a
much higher degree of volatility in terms of Council Tax Support claims – the
council now receiving an upfront sum as part of the annual grant settlement
rather than reimbursement of actual costs.
5. Further reductions in grant funding have major implications for the council and
as such work needs to continue to identify and make savings in order to
produce balanced budgets in 2017/18 and beyond.
72.

TREASURY MANAGEMENT AND ANNUAL INVESTMENT STRATEGY
2017/18

The Assistant Director for Financial Services and Revenues submitted a report to
consider the draft treasury management and annual investment strategy. The strategy
provided a framework for the management for the council’s investments, cash flow
and borrowing activities.
The council complied with the CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury Management.
Under statutory provisions, the council was required to determine the treasury
management strategy statement, minimum revenue provision (MRP) policy and
annual investment strategy (2017/18) prior to start of the new financial year.
The strategy proposed new borrowing limits, to allow for increased investment to
support the council’s income generation plans.
CAB. 4

Page 8

BUDGET CABINET
13 FEBRUARY 2017
RESOLVED that: 1. The Cabinet recommended that the Council approve the Treasury
Management, Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) Policy and Annual
Investment Strategy (2017/18), and;
2. The Cabinet recommended that the Council’s Annual Investment Strategy
includes the use of Property Funds with immediate effect, and that a £2m
investment is made specifically with CCLA (Local Authority Property
Fund).
The reason for this decision was:
The council seeks to minimise the costs of borrowing and maximise investment
income whilst ensuring the security of its investments. The council is seeking to
increase opportunities for income generation, particularly where there are benefits to
the residents of Hastings in doing so, and this will involve the council in taking on
additional borrowing. The sums involved are large and the assumptions made play an
important part in determining the annual budget. Compliance with the CIPFA Code of
Practice represents the best practice and ensures compliance with statutory
requirements.
The council has the ability to diversify its investments into other property funds and
should consider carefully the level of risk against reward against a background of low
interest rates being forecast for come years ahead. Such an investment would help to
close the gap in the budget in the years ahead and thus help to preserve services.

(The Chair declared the meeting closed at. 6.38 pm)

CAB. 5

Page 9

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 10

Agenda Item 5

Report to:

Cabinet

Date of Meeting:

6th March 2017

Report Title:

Local List of Heritage Assets

Report By:

Monica Adams-Acton
Assistant Director for Regeneration and Culture

Purpose of Report
To advise cabinet on the progress of developing and publishing a list of local heritage
assets. The first version of the local list is now ready for publication. It is intended that
assets will continue to be added to the list in the future.

Recommendation(s)
1. That Cabinet notes the context and progress made in developing this first list
of local heritage assets contained in Appendix A. That the list be published
on the website.
Reasons for Recommendations
The mechanism for the local list process was agreed by the Cabinet in 2014 and the
process has generated the first list of local heritage assets.

Report Template v29.0

Page 11

Introduction
1.1

In January 2014 the Cabinet agreed the criteria and adoption process for
developing a local list of non-designated heritage assets. The process involves
the nomination by community groups of potential heritage assets for inclusion
on the local list. Nominations are assessed by an expert panel. The panel’s
recommendations are subject to public consultation and ratification. The criteria
for assessing nominations are available in the Council website.1

Local context
1.2

The Borough has 6 scheduled monuments, over 900 listed buildings, 18
conservation areas, 2 registered historic parks, 300 archaeological
sites/monuments/finds locations, and 27 archaeological notification areas. In
addition to these statutory designations the Borough contains a wealth of
cultural heritage.

1.3

Although not of quality to be worthy of national level designation and protection,
many of the undesignated assets undoubtedly make a positive contribution to
the cultural heritage and character of the area and the enjoyment of it.

1.4

Developing a local list enables the council as the local planning authority to give
consideration to the significance of these assets when determining planning
applications. Local Plan Policies (EN1 and DM5) cover the issue of locally
designated heritage assets in relation to development proposals.

Implications of local listing
1.5

The inclusion of a heritage asset does not bring additional consent requirements
over and above those required for planning permission. It can, however, help to
influence planning decisions in a way that conserves and enhances the asset, in
in line with the requirements of the NPPF. Local heritage assets within
conservation areas also benefit from the general control over demolition
afforded by the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990.
Ultimately, where preservation of any asset is impossible, the Council will seek
a competent record of the structure and/or setting prior to losing the asset
through development.

Assessment, public and stakeholder consultation
1.6

1

By spring 2016 the Council had received a number of nominations. Nominations
were supported by a detailed assessment on each of the proposed assets,
which included photographic and cartographic evidence, research into the local
history of the asset and their heritage significance.

http://www.hastings.gov.uk/conservation/selection_criteria/

Report Template v29.0

Page 12

1.7

Following the receipt of the nominations, each asset was subject to an
assessment by the panel against the criteria for Local Listing approved by the
Cabinet in 2014. The assessment panel is chaired by the Council’s Heritage
Champion. Where the panel made recommendations for assets to be included
in the list, these were subject to public consultation to gather local and
stakeholder views.

Assets included in the Local List
1.8

Having been the subject of rigorous assessment and public consultation, the
Director of Operational Services and the lead member of Regeneration and
Culture under delegated powers have approved the inclusion of four assets as
worthy of inclusion in the local list. The purpose of this report is therefore to
inform Cabinet that these assets have now been placed on the local list. The list
will shortly be available and published on the Council’s website. The list of
approved assets and their heritage significance is appended in Appendix A.

1.9

The assets included in the Council’s list of local heritage assets are as follows:
1. White Rock Gardens (East of Falaise Road) bounded by Bohemia to the north
and White Rock Road to the south
2. Wellington Square bounded by Georgian houses in Wellington Square and
Castle Road to the south including the central green, perimeter road and
pavement up to the building line
3. Linton Gardens including the gardens area to the north of Braybrooke Road
terraces and bounded by Linton Road and Wykeham Road terraces.
4. Bohemia Estate in Summerfields wood including the Walled Garden

1.10

The assets in the approved list of local heritage assets are landscaped gardens
owned by the Council. The local listing record will be made available online and
the information supporting their inclusion will be logged with the ESCC Historic
Environmental Record.

Future management and additions
1.11

The Local List is a Borough-wide list and in the future more number of potential
assets is likely to come forward for nomination. Community groups will continue
to be encouraged to put forward nominations and support will be given in the
form of advice. The current programme of conservation area appraisals is likely
to include recommendations for additions to the local list. This will enable the list
to be added to and revised. Such changes and additions will be reported
annually to Cabinet.

Conclusions
1.12

The good work started by community groups members have resulted in the first
list of local heritage assets for Hastings consisting of four assets. The process
reflects a good example of partnership working between community groups and

Report Template v29.0

Page 13

the Council. The adoption and updating of a local list is also in accordance with
the Council’s strategic priorities, the Local Plan and the NPPF. The list will be
published on the website for wider use and awareness.

Wards Affected
Ashdown, Baird, Braybrooke, Castle, Central St. Leonards, Conquest, Gensing,
Hollington, Maze Hill, Old Hastings, Ore, Silverhill, St. Helens, Tressell, West St.
Leonards, Wishing Tree

Policy Implications
Please identify if this report contains any implications for the following:
Equalities and Community Cohesiveness
Crime and Fear of Crime (Section 17)
Risk Management
Environmental Issues
X
Economic/Financial Implications
Human Rights Act
Organisational Consequences
Local People’s Views
X
Anti-Poverty
Additional Information
Appendix A: List of Local Heritage Assets and their statement of significance
Background documents:
 Local
Heritage
Listing,
Historic
England
Advice
Note
7
https://content.historicengland.org.uk/images-books/publications/local-heritagelisting-advice-note-7/heag018-local-heritage-listing.pdf/
 National Planning Policy Framework (para 135 & glossary for definition)
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/6077/
2116950.pdf
 Hastings Planning Strategy (Policy EN1: Built and Historic Environment)
http://www.hastings.gov.uk/content/planning/planning_policy/local_plan/pdfs/plannin
g_strat_2013_18_Feb_lo_res_(2).pdf

 Hastings Development Management Plan (Policy HN5 – Non-Designated
Heritage Assets)
http://www.hastings.gov.uk/planning/policy/adoptedlocalplan/dmp/
Officer to Contact
Sujeet Sharma
ssharma@hastings.gov.uk
01424 783325
Report Template v29.0

Page 14

Appendix A
White Rock Gardens

LOCAL LIST OF HERITAGE ASSETS

Asset: White Rock Pleasure Grounds
Date : 1920 -1930
Architect: N/A
Type: Early to Mid 20th Century Pleasure grounds
Original use: Leisure/social/communal
Hastings Borough
Council,
Planning Policy Team
Aquila House,
Breeds Place,
HASTINGS,
East Sussex.
TN34 3UY

Report Template v29.0

Page 15

Nominating body –
Sussex Gardens Trust

LOCAL LIST OF HERITAGE ASSETS

Statement of Significance
The asset covers the landscaped area to the east of Falaise Road and is a prime elevated site
overlooking the seafront and laid out specifically for formal recreation. It has been part of the wider
civic movement that saw the creation of pleasure grounds in many seaside towns in the early to
mid-20th Century and the site still reflects much of the qualities of landscaping from that era. There
has been an evolutionary process of accretion of uses and activities over time, but the principal
leisure use has been retained signifying high social/communal value. The landform remains
unchanged and the original layout of the garden landscape and features such as rockery,
ornamental planting, Edwardian shelter and bowling green etc. have survived. Tram Shelter and
Pavilion structure are surviving features. The primacy of the views to the sea enabled by a striking
central linear visual and spatial axis to the pier adds to the historic significance and group value of
the gardens.
© HASTINGS BOROUGH COUNCIL. THE IMAGES HAVE BEEN INCLUDED SOLELY FOR THE PURPOSES OF THIS
DOCUMENT. UNAUTHORISED REPRODUCTION OF THESE IMAGES MAY RESULT IN CIVIL PROSECUTION OR CIVIL
PROCEEDINGS
Report Template v29.0

Page 16

Wellington Square

LOCAL LIST OF HERITAGE ASSETS

Asset: Wellington Square
Date : 1820s
Architect: N/A
Type: Enclosed Georgian Garden Square
Original use: Social/communal/leisure
Hastings Borough
Council,
Planning Policy Team
Aquila House,
Breeds Place,
HASTINGS,
East Sussex.
TN34 3UY
Report Template v29.0

Page 17

Nominating body –
Sussex Gardens Trust

LOCAL LIST OF HERITAGE ASSETS

Statement of Significance
The asset is a Georgian garden square, which forms the centrepiece to a formal development of
Georgian houses and which has survived with much of its landscape design qualities through the
years. Wellington Square was the first formal piece of resort development in Hastings. This is also the
oldest subscription gardens and formal open space in Hastings. The Garden square has been a focus
of social and political activities from the mid-19th Century to late 20th Century which included weekly
open air meeting of suffrage Propaganda League. The elongated shape of the garden layout and
landscape patterns has remained intact. The garden’s intimate relationship with the Georgian buildings
providing an enclosure heightens its significance as a feature in wider townscape. The long views to
the sea and castle have been maintained.
© HASTINGS BOROUGH COUNCIL. THE IMAGES HAVE BEEN INCLUDED SOLELY FOR THE PURPOSES OF THIS DOCUMENT.
UNAUTHORISED REPRODUCTION OF THESE IMAGES MAY RESULT IN CIVIL PROSECUTION OR CIVIL PROCEEDINGS.

Report Template v29.0

Page 18

Linton Gardens

LOCAL LIST OF HERITAGE ASSETS

Asset: Linton Gardens
Date : 1899
Architect: N/A
Type: Ex-subscription gardens
Original use: Social/communal/leisure

Hastings Borough Council,
Planning Policy Team
Aquila House,
Breeds Place,
HASTINGS,
East Sussex.
TN34 3UY

Report Template v29.0

Page 19

Nominating body –
Sussex Gardens Trust

LOCAL LIST OF HERITAGE ASSETS

Statement of Significance
Private subscription gardens, built in 1899 as the centrepiece to Cornwallis estate and later, in 1937,
purchased by Hastings Corporation and opened as public gardens. The gardens, roughly oblong
shaped and narrowing at its northernmost point occupies 2.4 ha within a narrow, steep-sided natural
valley oriented north-south. The gardens comprise open lawns and varied collection of trees overlooked
by the residential properties on the higher ground which form the setting for the gardens. The landform
made up of terraced lawns on the west side and grass bank on east side of the main path, provided the
site of the two auditoria for the open-air theatre (in use from the late 1940s into the 1950s) and is
unaltered from that period. The original landform and landscape have remained in recognisable form,
whilst the active public use of the gardens has continued.

© HASTINGS BOROUGH COUNCIL. THE IMAGES HAVE BEEN INCLUDED SOLELY FOR THE PURPOSES OF THIS
DOCUMENT. UNAUTHORISED REPRODUCTION OF THESE IMAGES MAY RESULT IN CIVIL PROSECUTION OR CIVIL
PROCEEDINGS.

Report Template v29.0

Page 20

Bohemia Estate

LOCAL LIST OF HERITAGE ASSETS

Asset: Bohemia Estate
Date : 1818 Architect: N/A
Type:
Original use: Leisure/social/communal
Hastings Borough Council,
Planning Policy Team
Aquila House,
Breeds Place,
HASTINGS,
East Sussex.

Report Template v29.0

Page 21

Nominating body –
Sussex Gardens Trust

LOCAL LIST OF HERITAGE ASSETS

Statement of Significance
A strip of parkland and a wooded valley, owned by Hastings Borough Council and managed as
publically-accessible amenity land, the woodland designated as a local nature reserve. The site,
threaded with a stream, pools and serpentine paths and containing a ‘Roman’ bath-house (listed grade
II) and a walled garden, forms the surviving remnant of an early C19 ornamentally-designed landscape
surrounding a mansion, built c 1818- 1831 by Wastel Brisco and demolished in 1972.

© HASTINGS BOROUGH COUNCIL. THE IMAGES HAVE BEEN INCLUDED SOLELY FOR THE PURPOSES OF THIS DOCUMENT.
UNAUTHORISED REPRODUCTION OF THESE IMAGES MAY RESULT IN CIVIL PROSECUTION OR CIVIL PROCEEDINGS.

Report Template v29.0

Page 22

Agenda Item 6
Report to:

CABINET

Date of Meeting:

6th March 2017

Report Title:

Potential Sports Village Development

Report By:

Simon Hubbard
Director of Operational Services

Purpose of Report
To brief Cabinet on proposals brought forward for the development of improved
sports facilities to replace those currently found at Hastings United Football Club
[HUFC] and Horntye Cricket Club and developing around 400 new homes.
To alert members to both the potential benefits and the risks of the proposal.
To seek Cabinet approval for the negotiation of terms with Bohemia Hastings LLP
and Keepmoat Ltd for the development of a new sports hub on Council owned land
at Bexhill Recreation Ground and related housing development at Pilot Field
(Elphinstone Road), Horntye Sports Complex and Bexhill Road Recreation Ground.
Such terms (if agreed) to be presented to a further Cabinet meeting.

Recommendation(s)
1.

That Cabinet agree that the Director of Operational Services establishes
terms with Bohemia Hastings LLP and Keepmoat Ltd for the proposed
development of new sports facilities at Bexhill Recreation Ground and related
housing development at Pilot Field (Elphinstone Road), Horntye Sports
Complex and Bexhill Road Recreation Ground.

2.

In taking its decision Cabinet will consider the outcome of the independent
study of the benefits of the proposed scheme and its viability currently
commissioned by the Council [at the developer’s expense].

3.

The final terms to be subject to Cabinet approval and such terms would
include, amongst others:i.
ii.

Sale of land at market value to Bohemia LLP and/or Keepmoat Limited
subject to negotiation and project viability.
Subject to enforceable guarantees that protect the Council’s interests in
the event that the delivery of the sports facilities and housing are not
delivered within a timely manner.

Report Template V29.0

Page 23

iii.
iv.

Transfer of land to be subject to the necessary planning permissions
required from Hastings Borough Council and Rother District Council for
delivery of the whole scheme.
Assurances that the Charity Commission and Sports England are satisfied
with the proposed changes to sports facilities in Hastings.

4. Officers should explore the possibility of acquiring market homes thorough
acquisition by the Council’s future Housing Company.
5. That subject to agreement of suitable terms a further report regarding the land
sales required to deliver the scheme is presented to a future Cabinet.

Reasons for Recommendations
1. The full development of proposals requires at risk investment by the developer.
The proposals are dependent upon the sale of Council land and it is appropriate
to indicate the Council’s willingness to support this proposal if its requirements
are met.
2. There is the opportunity to develop c400 homes including affordable housing and
with potential for some of this to be acquired by the Council’s future housing
company.
3. The scheme would potentially deliver:a) A significant contribution to the Borough’s housing target contained within the
Borough Plan, gained on windfall sites
b) Improved educational offer
c) Health benefits
d) New pitch and sporting provision capable of meeting the needs of the
community in a way current provision does not.
e) Employment gains
f) Capital receipt and revenue cost savings for the Council
g) Fit with a number of Council policies including income generation, housing,
sports pitch strategy and regeneration

Report Template V29.0

Page 24

Background
1.

Members will be aware that Hastings United Football Club has long standing
ambitions to improve its stadium and facilities to enable the club to establish a
sustainable base for its future. Success on the field, increased community
engagement and financial security require modern and flexible facilities. Although
the club enjoyed an FA cup run in 2012/13 on the whole, its current attendances
which average around 350 are not sufficient to improve its position and the current
stadium will not meet the criteria for promotion to higher leagues. Furthermore,
the current stadium requires immediate repairs valued at around £80k.

2.

Horntye Park Sports Club was established as the home of Hastings Priory Cricket
Club following the building of the Priory Meadow Shopping Centre on the site of
the former Central Recreation Ground. The club has struggled financially almost
since its inception and it has never featured as a base for Sussex Cricket Club
matches (as was anticipated). The Trust which owns it has been seeking to
develop (at least partially) the site for some time.

3.

The Council itself faces challenges in the provision of sports and leisure facilities
as budgets continue to shrink. The Council has concluded a sports pitch strategy
with Rother. There is an ongoing need for the maintenance and refurbishment of
sports/leisure facilities, as well as development of additional facilities to meet
projected needs, at the same time as reducing costs.

4.

The Council has been approached for its support and participation in the
construction of a new stadium, sports facilities and housing on three sites:
a. The current football ground and social club and Pilot Field which is owned by
the Council but subject to a long lease to the football club and social club.
b. Bexhill Road Recreation Ground which belongs to the Council.
c. Horntye Park sports complex which is the property of the Horntye Trust.
The Council needs to decide if this is something that it is in principle willing
to support, including the sale of its sites if satisfactory terms are reached on
value and if it can be assured about the benefits of the scheme and its
deliverability. The planning issues involved are the subject of separate
processes and these will include consideration of policy, flooding and
environmental issues. Adopting this report does not commit either Council
or developer.

5.

The Scheme would be delivered in conjunction with the Keepmoat Group.
Keepmoat would develop the c396 homes that are proposed as part of the
scheme and would be hoped to fund (wholly or substantially) the new sports
facilities and stadium.
Report Template V29.0

Page 25

6.

The site for the new sports facilities at Bexhill Road Recreation Ground lies within
Rother District and the planning permission for this will be determined there. All
the other sites lie within Hastings and are within the purview of the Council’s
Planning Committee. The two sets of planning officers have worked together and
continue to do so to ensure as consistent approach as is possible within the two
sets of planning policies.

7.

Negotiations are currently going on around the finances of the proposed scheme.
Only if there are suitable terms identified will the matter be brought back for
Cabinet decision.
Who Are the Scheme’s Proposers

8.

The scheme is jointly proposed by Bohemia Hastings LLP and Keepmoat Ltd.
The company Bohemia Hastings LLP is set up for this purpose. The Bohemia
Group has a controlling interest in HUFC and an option to develop the Horntye
site.

9.

The shareholders of the company Bohemia Hastings LLP are Peter Sherlock and
Darren Burney. The company address is that of the Burney Group at 113 Manor
Road, Chigwell, Essex. The Burney Group are property developers and
consultants and sponsors of both Hastings United and the Essex Cricket
Foundation. Sherlock Consultancy advise they have been involved in a variety of
projects including Council offices from LB Greenwich and the LB of Brent, Eltham
Library and a number of schools particularly in Greenwich.

10. Keepmoat is a major housing and regeneration group whose principal activities
have chiefly been in the North and Midlands. The group is based in Doncaster
and was established in 1983. In 2014 it was acquired by TDR Capital Limited and
Sun Capital Partners which are both private equity companies. The Group had an
annual turnover in excess of £1billion in each of the last two years.
11. Keepmoat’s role within this scheme will be to deliver the physical development of
both the housing and leisure elements of the programme. Our confidence in
Keepmoat will be crucial because the Council would want to be assured that the
sports facilities will be delivered in a satisfactory and timely way.
12. The sports facilities would be owned by an amended Horntye Charitable Trust. It
is essential that this is the case to enable the use of Horntye Park assets and in
particular obtain the consent of the Charity Commission. It would be run by a
professional leisure company on the Trust’s behalf.

Report Template V29.0

Page 26

The Sports Hub
13. The proposal is now to develop a new sports hub on HBC land at Bexhill Road
which would include:a. A football stadium for HUFC capable of allowing its growth and commercial
sustainability
b. A 3G pitch for football, rugby and American football, playable during
conditions which would make grass pitches unplayable or liable to damage
c. A second 3G pitch, football specific, with seated stand
d. 5 full size football pitches
e. 2 junior, 2 mini pitches and 2 cricket pitches
f. Cricket practice nets
g. An artificial grass pitch [AGP] hockey pitch
h. A sports hall housing substantial gym facility
i. Netball courts
j. 2 squash courts, which double as dance studio space
k. 4 petanque rinks
l. A refurbished building to act as a visitor centre for the Pebsham Countryside
Park
m. Car parking for 377 cars and coach parking
14. This would result in the following gains and losses
a) Gain of:i. 1 x 3G football pitch (equivalent to approx. 3-4 grass pitches)
ii. 1 x 3G multi use (equivalent to approx. 3-4 grass pitches)
iii. 4 x petanque rinks
iv. 1 x netball court
v. 1 x cricket pitch and nets
b) Loss of:i.
1 x grass rugby pitch (relocated to 3G AGP)
ii.
1x grass senior football pitch (relocated to 3G AGP)
c) Hockey facilities remain the same at 1 pitch
d) Squash courts will replace the loss of courts at Elphinstone Sports and Social
Club.
15. There would be a “swap” of sports hall facilities at the new development for those
currently at Horntye. However, the new facility will be a substantial improvement
because it is larger than the existing one at Horntye and likely to appeal to a
broader range of sports such as futsal, handball, roller hockey and trampolining.
16. There would be a gain of a substantial new gym facility where none currently
exists.
Report Template V29.0

Page 27

17. The offer is regarded as being a qualitative improvement because:a. New artificial grass pitch [AGP] hockey pitch will replace the current hockey
pitch at Horntye which has a surface in desperate need of repair.
b. The existing grass pitches at Bexhill Road suffer from drainage issues. The
condition and drainage of the proposed grass pitches will be improved.
c. Modernised football stadium.
d. Proposed third generation [3G] pitch facilities will provide a better quality
surface than the current grass pitches on site and help address the issues
caused by the existing poor drainage. The capacity of a 3G pitch is far
greater than that of a grass pitch. Therefore the introduction of two 3G
pitches will significantly increase the number of quality pitches on site.
e. Improved netball courts compared to the current borough wide offer.
f. The Scheme incorporates modern changing rooms for all users.
Refurbishment of western pavilion as visitors centre. The existing eastern
pavilion has reached the end of its life time and does not comply with the ideal
modern standards.
g. Enhanced disability access
18. The Scheme is intended to improve the provision of activities available to
residents. In sporting terms, the proposal appears to provide for a wider range of
sporting activity to be available at the Bexhill Road site. The proposed sports hall
is larger than the existing Horntye sports hall and is likely to appeal to a broader
range of sports such as futsal, handball, roller hockey and trampolining.
19. The current proposals comprise the following mix of housing : At Horntye, It is proposed there will be 162 homes comprising a mixture of
apartments and family homes.
 At Pilot Field the developers currently propose 70 homes, mainly 2,3 and 4
bedroom houses
 On the lower tier site at Bexhill Road Recreation Ground the current proposals
are for 164 homes, again mainly 2, 3 and 4 bedroom family houses
The housing proposals are at this stage indicative and will be subject to planning
permission. However, if realised in full they would deliver circa 396 additional
homes comprising a mix of house types and tenures.
20. The Council’s policies would anticipate circa 125 affordable homes on this basis.
The Council’s corporate plan target for affordable housing is an average of 75 p.a.
The exact mix and tenure is still to be agreed and would be subject to normal
viability tests and negotiation. It is assumed at this stage that the affordable will
comprise a mixture of homes for affordable rent and shared ownership.
21. The planning policy requirement is for 25% of the homes on the Horntye and Pilot
Fields sites to be provided as affordable housing. On Bexhill Road Recreation
Ground the policy requirement is 40% as technically this is defined as Greenfield
Report Template V29.0

Page 28

land. It may be open to the Council to consider with the developers varying the
affordable proportions across the three sites to improve the housing offer and
maximise delivery of the overall project.
22. In addition to the above, discussions are taking place to explore if the Council’s
housing company might acquire units from this scheme. The Council might agree
an option with developers whereby it takes market housing units in lieu (or as part)
of capital receipts for disposal of council land to the developers. Savills have been
commissioned to undertake an appraisal on behalf of the Council. The resulting
units would be quite distinct from the affordable housing requirement provided by
a registered provider (Housing Association) and would likely be let by the Council
on a commercial basis at market rents.
2016 Hastings and Rother Playing Pitch Strategy
23. There are currently no 3G artificial grass pitches (AGP) suitable for formal
competitive football in Hastings or Rother. The 2016 Hastings & Rother Playing
Pitch Strategy (PPS) supports the development of 2 full size 3G AGP pitches in
Rother and 1 full size pitch in Hastings. The Sports Hub proposals include two 3G
AGP pitches.
24. Water logged pitches are a common problem at Bexhill Road. 22% of football
matches and 61% of rugby matches were cancelled during 15/16. During the
same period the majority of local clubs reported that pitch quality has deteriorated
over recent seasons. The current number of match cancelations significantly
limits the ability of the local football league and rugby club. The PPS highlights the
urgent need for pitch improvements and highlights options such as re-prioritisation
of maintenance regimes to help reduce cancellations. Maintenance and operation
of the pitches will be incorporated within the new operational model.
25. There is currently no Sunday League competitive football played in Hastings. It
should be noted that if this type of football (affiliated but low standard adult
football) was to increase in demand and there was sufficient demand for a
competitive league, the demand for facilities and the resulting wear and tear of
grass pitches would increase.
26. The timber eastern pavilion at Bexhill Road is near the end of its life and the PPS
states that an alternative ancillary solution is required. The Sports Hub proposals
incorporate alternative modern changing facilities, accommodating all users.
27. Additional cricket pitch capacity is required in Hastings and Bexhill where users
are finding it increasingly difficult to secure match play facilities. There are
currently no cricket pitches at Bexhill Road. The proposal includes two new cricket
pitches (the outfields overlay the adjacent football pitches). This will increase the
Report Template V29.0

Page 29

overall number of cricket pitches in the town from 2 to 3. This additional cricket
pitch will increase cricket capacity at peak Saturday afternoon match times, in-line
with the PPS recommendations.
28. The PPS states that local rugby clubs would benefit significantly from having
access to appropriate 3G pitch for training purposes, which is being proposed by
the scheme.
29. The PPS states that the long term playing location for both South Saxon Hockey
Club (the only hockey club in Hastings and Rother) and Hastings and St Leonards
Priory Cricket Club is a concern, considering the uncertainty of their home ground
at the Horntye Park Sports Complex. Therefore the inclusion of a dedicated
hockey specific AGP pitch within the proposals is likely to be welcomed by
Saxons. Saxons have identified latent demand for new teams at the club, but are
currently unable to capitalise on this as their pitch time is encroached by small
sided casual and commercial football use. However, this is likely to be addressed
by the proposed additional 3G AGP pitch which would displace the football use,
creating further capacity for Hockey. It is worth noting that football and hockey
require different AGP pitch surfaces.
30. The 2015 Leisure Facilities Strategy indicates that the current supply of sports
halls within Hastings is closely aligned with local demand. However there is often
a shortage of hall space at peak times across Hastings, which would be
exacerbated should Horntye’s current hall be lost and not replaced. Like the PPS,
the strategy emphasises the importance of catchment areas, especially for our
large percentage of residents traveling by foot and public transport.

Land Disposal Issues
31. In terms of the sports facilities it is proposed that the Council will grant a 999 year
lease to the Horntye Trust. The Charity Commission will be required to approve
the disposal of the present site and the acquisition of alternative provision. It is
not possible for the scheme can proceed without this. The developer is in
negotiation on this matter with the Commission currently. This land comprising
15.28 hectares is outlined on drawing number ESAD 1735 at Appendix 1.
32. The sale of 5.65 hectares of land at Bexhill Road Recreation Ground outlined on
drawing number ESAD 1731A at Appendix 2 for housing development.
33. The sale of 3.17 hectares of land at Elphinstone Road for housing development
outlined on the plan at Appendix 3. This is the site currently occupied by Hastings

Report Template V29.0

Page 30

United (Pilot Field) and the Elphinstone Social Club on leases that expire in 2068
and 2066 respectively.
34. The land in 34 and 35 above falls within the definition of Public Open Space under
the Local Government Act 1972 and Section 123 of the Act requires any disposal
of the land (including by lease) to have a Notice published in the paper for 2
consecutive weeks and any objections to be considered.
Planning Issues
35. The planning teams at Hastings and Rother Councils have agreed to work
together on pre-application processes. The proposals for Hastings are on land
designated as recreation space. The Hastings Planning Committee would need to
be satisfied that the application(s) and proposed uses:i.
Demonstrate that existing facilities are poor, unsustainable and surplus to
requirements. This would include exploration of alternative sport offers for site
and/or redevelopment that could meet an identified local need. The various
options would need to be supported by data to show why they are/are not
viable development options. A profit/loss of the existing facility would assist to
demonstrate the current situation at Horntye Park and Hastings United
Football Club which would be kept confidential.
ii.
Set out at local level what other facilities would be available for local
residents, including those accessible by means other than the private car.
iii.
Set out how the proposed sports hub would meet a need at local, regional or
national level supported by data.
iv.
Set out how the proposed location for the Sports Hub will be accessible by
means other than the private car.
v.
Provide affordable housing to meet relevant Local Plan policy requirements,
subject to viability.
vi.
Where housing is proposed, provide a well laid out scheme of good design
that is appropriate to the character of the area, providing a good living
environment for future occupants without harm to neighbouring residential
amenity. In addition the scheme should provide sufficient car parking and safe
access to and within the site. The scheme should be supported by sufficient
information to address specific site issues such as ecology and flooding. This
list is not exhaustive.
vii.
Show that the design/layout and mitigation has regard to the Local Wildlife
Site designation on site.
viii.
Have regard to relevant policies within the Local Plan which include CI2, HN8,
HN10, EN2, EN8, H1, H2 and H3 of the Hastings Planning Strategy. Policies
in the Hastings Development Management Plan would be relevant in the
consideration of more detailed aspects of the scheme, such as Policy HN9. In
addition the proposed development should have regard to guidance contained
within the Planning Practice Guidance and the National Planning Policy
Framework including guidance in respect of loss of playing fields and sports
facilities.
ix.
Impact on Combe Valley Countryside Park.
Report Template V29.0

Page 31

The Benefits of the Proposed Scheme
36. The proposers have agreed to an independent assessment of the social,
economic and health outcomes of the proposal as well as its ongoing viability. A
full list of the benefits estimated are attached as Appendix 4 to this report but the
principal ones are as follows:
i.

ii.

iii.

iv.
v.
vi.
vii.

Increased use of sports facilities from 53,000 currently using the existing
facilities to 116,000 using the new sports hub annually. A figure of £22m per
annum in healthcare benefits has been claimed.
Training initiatives including 100 school projects and a new relationship with
Sussex Coast College which will deliver sports and leisure training at the
hub, including a football academy.
The creation of around c396 homes, including much needed affordable
houses and the hub, with a combined construction spend of £58m and
around 1,039 person years of construction-related employment. We would
wish to push for the maximum benefit for local people from this.
57 additional long term jobs (again to be tested) operating the new facilities.
Gross value added to the economy of £3.6m over 5 years.
£1.6m of new homes bonus over 4 years.
Council tax receipt of which approximately £56k p.a. would accrue to HBC,
subject to planning.

37. The Scheme would be of benefit to the curriculum delivered by Sussex Coast
College Hastings to local people. The College already works in partnership with
Hastings United and Skilltec on the football academy with additional work with
under 16s at school sites. The College has access to outside space it does not
regard teaching and theory facilities as adequate to support expansion.
38. The estimated new development would enable the college to expand its provision
in relation to coaching, development, nutrition, physiotherapy and other disciplines
at all levels.
39. In addition it is likely that the Council will be able to save in both its revenue
expenditure on pitch maintenance at Bexhill Road currently valued at £25k per
annum. The additional costs (principally the cleaning and maintenance of
changing pavilions) is valued at £15k per annum with associated pitch hire income
of £6k. The pitches at the Bexhill Road site suffer from drainage issues with a high
number of cancelled matches occurring from November to February. The recent
Playing Pitch Strategy identifies the need to re-prioritise the maintenance regime
to address these cancellations. The Council will also not have to replace or
Report Template V29.0

Page 32

refurbish changing facilities. However it would lose circa £7,500 per annum from
rent it receives from Hastings Utd and Elphinstone Sports & Social Club.
40. The developers have also identified that they will contribute up to £100k towards
the development of new family support, educational and communities facilities at
The Firs. In addition and as part of the overall development proposals for the new
stadium, HUFC will enter into a deed of variation to surrender the use of the car
parking facility at the Firs to allow the Education Futures Trust to fulfil their
ambitions.
Regeneration Impacts
41. Hastings has begun to make real progress since its decline in the mid and late
20th century. The establishment of the SEEDA Task Force spearheaded the
development of the University, College, employment sites, Link Road and the
significant impact of the cultural regeneration approach which encouraged
Jerwood, supported The Source, worked with the community to re-open the Pier
and invested in new housing led regeneration in St Leonards. However, much
remains to be done.
42. This Scheme would offer (if successful) a number of contributions to improve not
only sports facilities and housing, but the image and profile of Hastings both
internally and externally.
i.
In itself, a successful football club would be the source of pride to many in
the community and a potentially positive vehicle for the Borough’s image.
ii.
The proposal is strategically linked to supporting both the College and future
university provision – both crucial to the future.
iii.
Good quality facilities in the extreme west of the Borough, improved flood
defences and improvements to the Countryside Park will have a positive
impact upon a part of the Borough which is often neglected because of
issues elsewhere.
iv.
It fits with the Borough’s contributions to support improved health and
participation in sport/leisure as a means to improved health and welfare.
Sport can be a key driver in social inclusion.
v.
It generates new homes including affordable housing in West St Leonards
and East Hastings area and the UK has an overwhelming need to generate
more dwellings for people to live and this is an opportunity to both deliver
and improve upon the Borough Council’s targets as laid out in the Borough
Plan.
vi.
It offers a potentially sustainable base for sports and leisure activity where
none exists at the moment.
43. Set against these gains the downsides seem relatively few (although there are
real risks). Residents in Pilot Road may or may not welcome new housing but will
Report Template V29.0

Page 33

avoid the disruption a more successful football club may cause. Some residents
of West St Leonards may be concerned about renewed traffic congestion and
careful work to address this will be required with East Sussex County Council.
44. However, enabling Civil works associated with the residential development of the
lower Tier site will ameliorate the existing flooding problem for homes on the lower
Bexhill Road. This is a major benefit to existing residents and will be of benefit to
them in the future. It is estimated by the developer that over 70 homes would
benefit from this.
Risks
45. The chief risks are:
a. That Rother will not grant planning permission for the sports facilities or
Hastings for the housing, for policy or environmental reasons.
b. Housing is developed out but sporting facilities are not delivered or delivered
below specification.
c. The business plan for the sports facilities is not sustainable or not attractive
to sports clubs or individual users, particularly those from disadvantaged
groups.
d. A perception that there is a loss of facility in East Hastings.
e. The Charity Commission may not support the proposal.
f. The complexity of the legal processes imposes an unacceptable delay.
An initial strengths, weakness, opportunity and threat [SWOT] analysis is attached
to this report. This is work in progress and will be reviewed in the light of
subsequent negotiations with the developer.
Study on viability
46. Independent consultants have been engaged, at the Scheme promoters’ expense,
to critically analyse the business case and the economic and social impact
assessments presented by them.
47. In particular, we have required the following to be examined :i. The capital costs for infrastructure/civil works at Combe Valley (sports village
and residential), including elements such as s106 obligations, etc.
ii. The capital costs for the development to be undertaken on the two sites
vacated (Horntye Park and the Pilot Field)
iii. The likely revenue returns generated by the development (Combe Valley,
Horntye Park and Pilot Field), the costs of its operation and the long term
sustainability of the sports complex
iv. The revenue costs associated with the residential development, and revenue
to be generated from the residential development proposed (Combe Haven,
Horntye Park and Pilot Field)
v. The adequacy of the car parking and transport arrangements at Combe Valley
Report Template V29.0

Page 34

vi.

vii.
viii.

The robustness of the ‘soft’ benefits predicted including (but not limited to) the
number of school/college students benefitting from the development, the
number of apprenticeships created, the number of permanent (sports village)
and temporary (construction, etc., ) jobs created, the number of leisure users
benefitting from the development, the new homes bonus created, and the
additional council tax generated
The adequacy of the management contract to be entered into with the site
operator, including any TUPE provisions for existing staff
The proposed timescales for the developments

48. No community facilities will be lost in East Hastings as a result of this proposal.
The current MUGA will be retained and the area of The Firs should be enhanced
through its development by the Education Futures Trust (subject to planning).
The MUGA is well used by community and formal hirers, the Council grass
football pitch located within The Firs area is only used by one team currently, but
is not impacted by this proposal. The current pitch in the football stadium is not
available for community use.

Policy Implications
Equalities and Community Cohesiveness
49. The Council will wish to ensure that the proposed sports facilities are designed
and programmed in a way which will allow the maximum use by all parts of the
community. In particular disability access will be an important design feature and
access by cycling/walking and public transport will need to be carefully considered
as part of the Scheme’s design.
50. The provision of affordable housing and potentially additional rented housing
should help address increasing need in the Borough.
Crime and Fear of Crime
51. Participation in sport encourages positive attitudes and social interaction.
Increased participation rates if achieved should contribute to finding alternatives to
anti-social activity. The provision of employment and training should also be
positive in this respect.
Risk Management
52. There are risks to be managed which have been identified in the report and in the
initial SWOT which is attached to this report. These include:a. Ensuring the delivery of a scheme are agreed.
b. Planning process.
c. Ensuring good attractive design.
d. Ensuring the council achieves the financial and housing gain identified.

Report Template V29.0

Page 35

The report addresses these issues and the subsequent report will need to
consider further how these might be addressed.
Environmental Issues
53. The scheme developer will need to satisfy this Council, Rother and the
Environment Agency that flooding issues are fully addressed in the proposals.
54. The developer will need to address how access by green transport methods can
be maximised.
Economic/Financial
55. Discussions are currently taking place with the developers about the value of the
sites proposed to be sold. The subsequent (part 2 report) will detail the expected
income from the sales and if departure from market value is recommended.
56. The income from land disposal under this proposals is not currently included in the
Council’s budgets and will therefore be expected to have a positive influence on
the Council’s financial position. The possibility of acquiring stock to rent is also
potentially a contribution to income generation.
57. The potential savings in terms of maintenance and refurbishment are in the report.
Human Rights Act
58. None identified.
Organisational Consequences
59. None identified.
Local Peoples Views
60. The Scheme developer has undertaken consultation with some groups but a
structured report on this should be required. The Council will wish to have the
views of sporting and equality groups as well of those of partners like the Clinical
Commissioning Group.
Anti-Poverty
61.

Access to sports and leisure is a part of addressing the exclusion caused by
poverty.

Report Template V29.0

Page 36

62.

Affordable housing and (potentially) the provision of good quality rented stock
should help address exclusion.

63.

Employment and training opportunities are a key component of addressing
poverty and this proposal should contribute to this. The council should seek to
identify guarantees in this respect from the developer.
Views of the Public

64. The Scheme sponsors have undertaken a variety of consultations. However, it is
suggested that a more formal report on consultation with sporting and disability
groups should be requested to inform the subsequent report to Cabinet.

Wards Affected
None
Policy Implications
Please identify if this report contains any implications for the following:
Equalities and Community Cohesiveness
Crime and Fear of Crime (Section 17)
Risk Management
Environmental Issues
Economic/Financial Implications
Human Rights Act
Organisational Consequences
Local People’s Views
Anti-Poverty

Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes
No
No
Yes
Yes

Additional Information
Officer to Contact
Officer Name: Simon Hubbard
Officer Email Address: shubbard@hastings.gov.uk
Officer Telephone Number: 01424-451753

Report Template V29.0

Page 37

Report Template V29.0

Page 38

© Crown Copyright and database rights [2016]. OS [100021328]

±

Proposed Coombe Valley Sports Village

Borough Boundary
Site Location

Use of this data is subject to terms and conditions. You are
granted a non-exclusive, royalty free, revocable licence solely
to view the Licensed Data for non-commercial purposes for
the period during which Hastings Borough Council makes it
available. You are not permitted to copy, sub-license,
distribute, sell or otherwise make available the Licenced Data
to third parties in any form. Third party rights to enforce the
terms of this licence shall be reserved to OS.

Date: Dec 2016

Scale: 1:3,500

Drawn:
PageST
39

Estates Manager:
Amy Terry M.R.I.C.S.
Aquila House, Breeds Place,
Hastings, East Sussex TN34 3UY
Tel: 01424 451085
email: estates@hastings.gov.uk

Drawing No: ESAD 1735

This page is intentionally left blank

±

© Crown Copyright and database rights [2016]. OS [100021328]
FB

)
(um
th
Pa

Pumping Station

El Sub Sta

FB

c
Tra

Drain

Playing Field

k

Footbridge
Playground

dy

CS

a
312

Footbridge

0
32

Page 41

12
2

PH

El Sub Sta

5
34

FB

k

1
38

3.4m

3

Depot

7

10

7
41

3
40

7
40

3.3m

AY
W

5
39

2

0
38

1
37

9
37

E

9
38

LB

Tank

G
ID
BR

8
36

LL

AD

3
37

c
Tra

ck
Tra

I
XH
BE

RO

Garage

9
36

Garage
8
35

8
39

311

7
35

8
34

in
Dra

2
39

307

8
33

3.6m

FB

3.6m

293

6
32

nd
ou
Gr
n
o
ati
cre
Re

f
De

312

in
Dra

FB

on
vili
Pa

LB
3.3m

9
29

Garage

rs
Ya
rd

B
ED

TCB

Bu
ilde

Co

t&
ns
Co

302

296

3
41
34

36

Depot

32
MP

Use of this data is subject to terms and conditions. You are
granted a non-exclusive, royalty free, revocable licence solely
to view the Licensed Data for non-commercial purposes for
the period during which Hastings Borough Council makes it
available. You are not permitted to copy, sub-license,
distribute, sell or otherwise make available the Licenced Data
to third parties in any form. Third party rights to enforce the
terms of this licence shall be reserved to OS.

Bexhill Road Recreation Ground
Lower Tier

Date: Nov 2016

Scale: 1:1,500

Drawn: ST

Estates Manager:
Amy Terry M.R.I.C.S.
Aquila House, Breeds Place,
Hastings, East Sussex TN34 3UY
Tel: 01424 451085
email: estates@hastings.gov.uk

Drawing No. ESAD 1731A

This page is intentionally left blank

© Crown Copyright and database rights [2016]. OS [100021328]

1

28

15

±

Well House Cottage

OA D

12
11

ELP
HIN
STO
N

THE
B

SW
AY

Centre

Development

26

FRIA
R

1

14

YEW
AY

24

6

26

ER

22

11

Dunclutha Lodge

17 21

17

2

10

Club

E

11 9

Stan
d

14

8
19

24

NU
RST AVE
LYNDHU

28

2
5

6

4

1a

7
18

4
19

14

1

3

18

Pilot Field
Elphinstone Road
Hastings

20

W
N
O

32

24

Elphinstone Sports & Social Club Lease

Elphinstone Sports & Social Club Lease ROW
Use of this data is subject to terms and conditions. You are
granted a non-exclusive, royalty free, revocable licence solely
to view the Licensed Data for non-commercial purposes for
the period during which Hastings Borough Council makes it
available. You are not permitted to copy, sub-license,
distribute, sell or otherwise make available the Licenced Data
to third parties in any form. Third party rights to enforce the
terms of this licence shall be reserved to OS.

Date: Dec 2016

D

23

8

220
199

1a

25

2

226

211

2a

a
25

'S

15

52

36

7

1

48

EL
EN

7
19

37

35

29

Stan
d

H

1

33

ST

5
3

244

7

31

Stand

3

2

Scale: 1:2,500

Drawn:
PageST
43

Estates Manager:
Amy Terry M.R.I.C.S.
Aquila House, Breeds Place,
Hastings, East Sussex TN34 3UY
Tel: 01424 451085
email: estates@hastings.gov.uk

Drawing No: ESAD 1734

This page is intentionally left blank

Sports Village of Combe Valley, HASTINGS
TRAINING INITIATIVES

HOUSING UNITS

SUSSEX COAST
COLLEGE

NET ADDITIONAL GVA

200-250

4

406
17

TRAINING
COURSES

106

58

Average household
annual spend

£16,453

Discounted

Page 45

2
£58M

RESIDENTIAL

£12 M

NET ADDITIONAL HOUSEHOLD EXPENDITURE

1

£3M

14

GENERAL STAFF

20%
Walking

CHEF

CATERING STAFF

153
Sports Village

Drive

Public Transport

2
10

4

Marginal "healthcare” beneﬁts

£22M

FISCAL BENEFITS

LEISURE “WELLBEING” BENEFITS
Current arrangements

53,466

NET ADDITIONAL OPERATIONAL
JOBS

13

116,562

68% 12%

£

£

PRIVATE COMMERCIAL

Sports Village (forecast)

£

NET ADDITIONAL PERSON YEARS OF CONSTRUCTION
EMPLOYMENT (BY END USE)

53,466

HASTINGS UNITED FC

PRIVATE COMMERCIAL

199
Sports Village

Current arrangements

MODE OF TRANSPORT

Sports Village
CONSTRUCTION EMPLOYMENT YEARS (BY END USE)

LEISURE HEALTH BENEFITS
Number of users per annum

Spend per annum from

DUTY MANAGERS

10

£6.7M

Total new household
annual expenditure

£3,616,000

CLEANER

GROUNDSMEN

886

406
NEW HOMES

£744,000

£3,869,000

SPORTS VILLAGE OPERATIONAL JOBS (FTES) FORECAST

HOUSING

Annual GVA (undiscounted)

Undiscounted

APPRENTICES

SCHOOL
PROJECTS

1,154

NEW HOMES AND HOUSEHOLD EXPENDITURE (GROSS)

Cumulative Impact
(ﬁve years’ persistence)

STUDENTS

CONSTRUCTION SPEND

HOUSING

Sports Village of Combe Valley, HASTINGS

£

£
£

Sports Hub (forecast)

Number of users per annum

Marginal “wellbeing” beneﬁts

116,562

£14.2M

Additional revenue

£2.7M £0.6M
New Homes Bonus
(over four year period)

Council tax payments
(per annum)

This page is intentionally left blank

SPORTS VILLAGE
Strengths



















Weaknesses

400 housing units on sites not included in
Local Plan including affordable housing.
The involvement of a national housing and
regeneration company in delivery.
New management of football club.
Extensive new sports facility located on
major transport routes.
Additional taxation + New Homes Bonus.
Reduction in revenue, maintenance and
capital refurbishment for sports facilities.
Saving of sports admin costs.
Unanticipated income generation through
land sales.
Funding for Education Futures Trust.
Estimated new household spend of £6.7m
p.a.
New Homes Bonus
50-60 operational jobs.
c1,000 construction employment years.
Proximity to Countyr Park
Development of employment/training
through construction programme.
Increase in users and potential health
benefits arising from it.
Strengthen offer of Sussex Coast College
through delivery of courses at the new
facilities.
Chance to take value in form of housing for
new housing company.








Housing and sports facilities do not feature
within Hastings or Rother planning policy.
There are not yet sufficient guarantees
ensuring economic and social inclusion
within the sports centre proposals.
Potential resident opposition in Pilot Field
and Horntye areas.
Need for additional consultation with
sports clubs, disability access groups,
sporting national governing bodies and
CCG.
Further information on catchment and
access issues required to ensure new
facilities are accessible to Borough
residents.

Opportunities








Threats

Chance to replace two failing sports
facilities with brand new and better run
ones.
Football club potentially a prestigious
organisation attracting resident support and
business involvement.
Expansion of participation in sport afforded
by new sports hall and all weather pitches.
Demonstrate that Hastings is open for
growth in response to national housing and
regeneration agenda.
Opportunity to ensure well designed and
attractive new development.
Creation of new neighbourhood and
facilities in Pilot Road area.
Create leisure facilities to sit alongside
culture as an incentive to investment and










The need to ensure that the sports facilities
are delivered to time and specification.
Failure would damage the Council’s
credibility.
The sports facilities will be inefficiently run
once constructed and fail to deliver
financially and in terms of service.
Planning decisions by either council
(developer risk).
Housing will not be delivered in a timely
enough fashion to fund rapid development
of sports facilities.
Values drop if too much housing developed
in the economic area at the same time.
Design may not be sufficiently
attractive/robust.
The need to ensure a joined up approach to

Page 47

new residents.





planning between Hastings & Rother.
Sale of land for housing would need to be
linked to approval for the sports facilities in
Rother as well as HBC planning approval.
The extent of community use is partly
dependent on the number of hours
allocated to community use. Affordable
and consistent pricing policies will also
need to be understood.
Lengthy legal processes.

Mitigation of Weakness
i)

Housing and sports facilities do not feature within other Hastings or Rother planning policy.
 Planning decisions cannot be prejudged. HBC planners have identified clearly the
departures from policy and the evidence required to justify this. It is believed there are
proper arguments that can be considered by the Planning Committee.
 There will be close liaison with Rother.
 Planning decisions are the developers risk and not to the Council. Land disposal would be
subject to planning permissions.

ii)

There are not yet sufficient guarantees ensuring economic and social inclusion within the
sports centre proposals to be included in any subsequent conditions of sale.

iii)

Potential resident opposition in Pilot Filed and Horntye areas.
 Resident’s views will need to be addressed in the planning process. Pilot Field will benefit
from a cohesive approach towards the development of housing and the future of the
adjacent area by the Education Futures Trust.

iv)

Lack of formal consultation with sports clubs, disability access groups and CCG.
 The proposers and Council should consider an equalities impact statement in relation to
the proposed scheme.
 The proposers should carry out structured consultation with Disability Forum and other
groups before the decision making Cabinet report.

Mitigation of Threats
i)

The need to ensure that the sports facilities are delivered to time and specification. Failure
would damage the Council’s credibility.
 HBC will require financial guarantees in terms of bonds to ensure the delivery of the
sports facilities. These are yet to be negotiated but will be required to be known by the
time of the subsequent Cabinet report.

Page 48

ii)

The sports facilities will be inefficiently run once constructed and fail to deliver financially and
in terms of service.
 The scheme sponsors have pledged that the operation of the new sports facilities will be
commercially undertaken as are the council’s own facilities. The scheme’s business plan
is the subject of independent appraisal by consultants employed by HBC at the
developer’s expense and their view will be available to members before any decision is
taken.

iii) Planning decisions by either council (developer risk).


It is not possible to pre-ordain conditions that might be imposed by either Planning
Committee. However, any restrictions or contributions imposed will have to be
considered in the light of viability. However, the risk is the developers.

iv) Housing will not be delivered in a timely enough fashion to fund rapid development of sports
facilities.
 The delivery of housing might fluctuate with the market. However, potential acquisition
of new stock by the Council’s housing company may help to reduce risk and encourage
rapid development, dependent on the ultimate size of any stake taken.

v)

Values drop if too much housing developed in the economic area at same time.
 Developer risk once bonds agreed for the provision of the sports facilities.

vi) Design may not be sufficiently attractive/robust.
 Consultation with HUDG and through planning process.
 Bulverhythe can be improved through both the facilities and any new housing.
 Horntye and Pilot Field are attractive areas and it is to be expected Planning Committee
will expect high standards of design and layout.
vii)

Inadequate provision for transport is made
 A full transport needs assessment will be made, and transport engineers engaged, to
ensure that there is adequate car/coach parking on site, and that the access road/Bexhill
Road junction arrangements are adequate.

viii)

Lengthy legal processes
 Ensure engagement of legal services and identify need for extra resources if required.

Page 49

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 7

Agenda Item No:
Report to:

Cabinet

Date of Meeting:

6th March 2017

Report Title:

Hastings Off-Street Parking Infrastructure Improvements

Report By:

Mike Hepworth
Assistant Director Environment and Place

Purpose of Report
To request capital funding for essential upgrades to the Council's off street car parking
infrastucture.
Recommendation(s)
1. That the request for £70,000 capital funding is approved.
Reasons for Recommendations
The infrastructure improvements set out in this report are an essential element of the
Council's digital transformation and customer first programmes. They will facilitate
even greater use of cashless payments options, which will help drive channel shift in
line with the Council's customer first and digital by design principles, as well as
generating efficiency savings as we move from partly paper based parking
administration systems to wholly digital systems. The costs associated with them are
amongst those which we can offset against income generated from our off street
parking service.

$ez0rtl43.doc
Report Template v25.0

Page 51

Page 1 of 4

Background
1. In recent years there have been significant developments in the use of cashless
payment methods, and further developments are necessary to improve customer
service and drive more channel shift in relation to the administration and payment
processes associated with our off street parking services.
2. Many of our machines have been in circulation since at least 1999. Out of a total of
45 machines, 35 are a model which is no longer being manufactured and will now
only be supported for spare parts for about another 6 months. These 35 machines
have been in use for more than 16 years. In order to transform the way we work,
make use of new technology, and improve the way our customers can access our
services, we need to upgrade these machines so that they take cash, accept chip
and pin, and contactless card payments. We will then be offering our customers a
total of four payment methods, including Ringo pay by phone, with three of these
being cashless.
3. Consequently, we now need to implement a major programme of improvement and
replacement of the out dated pay and display machines and the associated
signage.

Works Required
4. Our current provider for pay and display machines is Cale Access UK limited. It is
possible to upgrade our machines using the existing pedestals and main machine
casings if we stay with Cale, at a cost of £2562 per machine. There are other
suppliers of pay and display machines such as Metric and Parkeon, but because
we could not use existing pedestals etc. the cost per machine would be in the
region of £3500 to £3750 per machine.
5. Rather than just upgrading all of our machines to this new style we will only
purchase 22 machine upgrades at a total cost of £56,364. Some of these costs will
be shared with the Foreshore Trust, namely the machines needed in Pelham Place
and Rock a Nore car parks.
6. This approach will enable us to spread the new machines across all of the different
car parks initially alongside an old machine. We will then have spares from the
upgraded machines which we can use in the old machines to prolong their life.
Some of this work will be carried out by our in-house maintenance technician,
which helps reduce the cost of the works required.
7. Nationally there is a trend for fewer pay and display machines as more customers
move to cashless options, and our replacement and upgrade plans take account of
this. By extending the life of the older machines alongside upgraded machines we
don't need to replace as many, and have the opportunity to assess how many
machines we will need in each car park in the future.
8. Our tariff boards are old and include the old Hastings Borough Council logo, and
we regularly receive complaints from people who find them confusing. We are
therefore purchasing new tariff boards, with the latest Council branding and also
$ez0rtl43.doc
Report Template v25.0

Page 52
Page 2 of 4

making them clearer and easier for our customers to understand. Each tariff board
will cost about £453 but we have 30 of these making a total cost of £13,590.

Financial Implications
9. The 2016/17 revised budget included a sum of £70,000 in the Capital Programme
for the purchase of new parking machines and boards. The annual borrowing costs
are estimated at £9,100 p.a. (based on a ten year life expectancy and an interest
rate at 3% p.a.).
10. There will be some off setting savings arising from lower cash collection costs due
to fewer machines – these have yet to be fully quantified.
11. There would be significant financial consequences should the machines become
unreliable and unserviceable.
12. As some of the car parks are on Foreshore Trust land (Pelham Place and Rock a
Nore), the costs will be shared. Pelham Place Car Park and Rock a Nore Car Park
are our two largest and busiest car parks and there are currently 10 machines.
One is in the small Rock a Nore Car Park, which is not Foreshore Trust land. We
are proposing to upgrade 7 of those on Foreshore Trust land (3 in Rock a Nore and
4 in Pelham) to the new style machine, which will cost £17,934. Plus the
associated signage upgrades which will costs £3,171. Making a total cost for work
within the Foreshore Trust area of £21,105.

Wards Affected
None
Area(s) Affected
Central Hastings, East Hastings, North St. Leonards, South St. Leonards
Policy Implications
Please identify if this report contains any implications for the following:
Equalities and Community Cohesiveness
Crime and Fear of Crime (Section 17)
Risk Management
Environmental Issues
Economic/Financial Implications
Human Rights Act
Organisational Consequences
Local People’s Views

No
No
No
No
Yes
No
No
No

Background Information

$ez0rtl43.doc
Report Template v25.0

Page 53

Page 3 of 4

Officer to Contact
Mike Hepworth - Assistant Director Environment and Place
01424 783332
mhepworth@hastings.gov.uk

$ez0rtl43.doc
Report Template v25.0

Page 54
Page 4 of 4

Agenda Item 8

Report to:

Cabinet

Date of Meeting:

6 March 2017

Report Title:

Public Space Protection Orders for Hastings

Report By:

Mike Hepworth, Assistant Director, Environment and Place

Purpose of Report
To seek approval to carry out a formal public consultation on draft Public Spaces
Protection Orders (PSPOs) relating to dog control measures and anti-social behaviour
such as that associated with drug and alcohol abuse in public places.
Recommendation(s)
Authorise the Assistant Director Environment and Place in consultation with the
Director of Operational Services, the Chief Legal Officer, and the Lead Member
for Environment and Place to go out to public consultation on the 2 draft PSPOs
for a period of four weeks, review feedback from the consultation and amend the
draft PSPOs as appropriate before reporting the finalised PSPOs to Cabinet,
seeking approval for the Chief Legal Officer to make the Orders in accordance
with regulations published by the Secretary of State.
Reasons for Recommendations
PSPOs replace existing controls such as those relating to dog fouling, under the
provisions of the Anti-social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014. The existing
provisions are superseded in October 2017.
They also enable local authorities and their partners such as the Police to address
serious anti-social behaviour in public places.
The work set out in this report will contribute to the Council's vision for a safer cleaner
town.

Report Template v29.0

Page 55

Public Space Protection Orders
1. The Anti-social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 introduced a range of new
anti-social behaviour (ASB) powers for dealing with street scene issues, including
Public Spaces Protection Orders (PSPOs), Community Protection Notices (CPNs),
and Civil Injunctions (CIs). Many of the new powers are available to a range of
agencies including local authorities, the Police, and social landlords. Statutory
guidance was issued by the Home Office in July 2014, but it was essentially just a
description of the new powers with some suggestions about how they may be
applied. Prescribed forms of Notice and more detailed operational guidance for
practitioners has not yet been forthcoming.
2. According to the Home Office guidance: "Public spaces protection orders are
intended to deal with a particular nuisance or problem in a particular area that is
detrimental to the local community’s qualify of life, by imposing conditions on the
use of that area which apply to everyone. They are designed to ensure the lawabiding majority can use and enjoy public spaces, safe from anti-social behaviour".
In Hastings the Borough Council is responsible for making PSPOs.
3. The test is designed to be broad and focus on the impact ASB is having on victims
and communities. A PSPO can be made by the Council if they are satisfied on
reasonable grounds that the activities carried out, or likely to be carried out, in a
public space: have had, or are likely to have, a detrimental effect on the quality of life of those
in the locality;
 is, or is likely to be, persistent or continuing in nature;
 is, or is likely to be, unreasonable; and
 justifies the restrictions imposed.
4. The Council can make a PSPO on any public space within its own area. The
definition of public space is wide and includes any place to which the public or any
section of the public has access, on payment or otherwise, as of right or by virtue of
express or implied permission, for example a shopping centre.
5. The PSPO can be drafted from scratch based on the individual issues being faced
in a particular public space. A single PSPO can also include multiple restrictions
and requirements in one Order. It can prohibit certain activities, such as the
drinking of alcohol, as well as placing requirements on individuals carrying out
certain activities, for instance making sure that people walking their dogs keep
them on a lead. However, activities are not limited to those covered by the Orders
being replaced (such as alcohol and dog controls), and so the new PSPOs can be
used more flexibly to deal with a wider range of local issues such as aggressive
begging, the use of psychoactive substances etc.
6. When deciding what to include, the Council should consider scope. The PSPO is
designed to make public spaces more welcoming to the majority of law abiding
people and communities and not simply restrict access. Restrictions or
Report Template v29.0

Page 56

requirements can be targeted at specific people, designed to apply only at certain
times or apply only in certain circumstances. In establishing which restrictions or
requirements should be included, the Council should ensure that the measures are
necessary to prevent the detrimental effect on those in the locality or reduce the
likelihood of the detrimental effect continuing, occurring or recurring.
7. The maximum duration of a PSPO is three years but they can last for shorter
periods of time where appropriate. At any point before expiry, the Council can
extend a PSPO by up to three years if they consider that it is necessary to prevent
the original behaviour from occurring or recurring. They should also consult with the
local police and any other community representatives they think appropriate.
8. The new PSPO can cover a number of different restrictions and requirements so
there should be little need to have overlapping orders in a particular public space.
However, if a new issue arises in an area where a PSPO is in force, the Council
can vary the terms of the order at any time. This can change the size of the
restricted area or the specific requirements or restrictions.
9. As well as varying the PSPO, a Council can also seek to discharge it at any time.
For instance when the problem has ceased to exist or the land ceases to be
classified as a public space.
10. It is an offence for a person, without reasonable excuse, to do anything that the
person is prohibited from doing by a PSPO, or fail to comply with a requirement to
which the person is subject under a PSPO.
11. Depending on the behaviour in question, the enforcing officer could decide that a
fixed penalty notice (FPN) up to £100 would be the most appropriate sanction. In
making the decision to issue a FPN, the officer should consider that if issued,
payment of the FPN would discharge any liability to conviction for the offence.
However, where the FPN is not paid within the required timescale, court
proceedings can be initiated (prosecution for the offence of failing to comply with
the PSPO).
12. The guidance states that: "Although PSPOs are made by the Council in an area,
enforcement should be the responsibility of a wider group. Council officers will be
able to enforce the restrictions and requirements, as will other groups that they
designate, including officers accredited under the community safety accreditation
scheme. In addition, police officers and PCSOs will have the ability to enforce the
order".
13. It is proposed that the Council should make 2 borough wide Public Spaces
Protection Orders specifying certain restrictions to be applied to specified areas of
the borough relating to 2 broad areas of enforcement: Dog control; and
 Anti-social behaviour (ASB) often associated with street community issues.

Reviewing and updating the Council's dog control powers
14. New statutory provisions arising from the Anti-social Behaviour, Crime and Policing
Act 2014 mean that the Council's existing powers for dealing with irresponsible dog
Report Template v29.0

Page 57

ownership issues need to be reviewed and updated. The Act requires that the
Council move from The Dogs on Leads (Borough of Hastings) Order 2008 and
other Dog Control Orders in respect of fouling, exclusion zones and dog on lead by
direction, to a PSPO.
15. If we don't undertake a review, the current dog control orders will automatically
become a PSPO in October 2017. But by 2020 the Council will be expected to have
drafted new Orders. Therefore, this is a useful opportunity to consult on our
existing dog control measures with interested parties including the dog owning
public, park users, community groups and the police. Cabinet considered a report
related to this on 5th December 2016 responding to a petition about dog controls in
St Leonards Gardens. It was agreed that no changes would be made until the
transition from the existing dog control measures to the new PSPOs had been
subject to an appropriate public consultation process.
16. In recent weeks we started a high profile behaviour change campaign using social
media materials and posters focussed on littering and dog fouling. There has been
a big positive public response to the campaign, with lots of people asking for a
more rigorous and robust approach to enforcement against people committing
these common offences, as well as helpful intelligence on where and when
offending is taking place. This shows that dog control offences such as dog fouling
are still seen as serious issues in Hastings, and that many residents want the
Council to do more about them.
17. The Wardens and Park Rangers are mainly responsible for the enforcement of the
Council's existing dog controls. These controls are set out in the leaflet at appendix
one. An internal review of the existing dog controls has been carried out with input
from all of the relevant Council services. It was concluded that relatively minor
changes were required and these will need to be consulted on along with the
existing controls.
18. Essentially fouling, dogs on leads by direction and the exclusion areas are the
same. Whereas changes are proposed regarding dogs on leads schedule 1, where
we have added f to k and extended d and e to cover more of the park/s.
19. This means that the dogs on lead requirements will be changed to cover: The whole of St Leonards Gardens from 8am until 6pm (rather than 9am till
6pm) – plan 4;
 The whole of Warrior Square Gardens rather than just the Rose Gardens – plan
5;
 The Stade Open Space – plan 6;
 Grosvenor Gardens – plan 7;
 West Marina Gardens – plan 8;
 Gensing Gardens – plan 9;
 Linton Gardens – plan 10; and
 West Hill Green Space (childrens play park area) – plan 11.
Report Template v29.0

Page 58

20. The area of foreshore and beach between groynes 1 and 3 South of the small Rock
a Nore car park and the Hastings motor boat and yacht club, has not been included
in the draft PSPO, whereas it is currently covered by the Dogs on Leads Order.
21. The grassed area East of Marine Court (plan 12) has been added in relation to
Dogs on Leads, as it has been the subject of many complaints from local residents.

The need for action to tackle anti-social behaviour in Hastings public
spaces
22. Anti-social behaviour (ASB) associated with public spaces has long needed careful
management in Hastings. The issues range from irresponsible dog ownership to
street drinking and substance abuse, and the associated ASB which can blight
public areas such as the foreshore, parks and open spaces and shopping
precincts.
23. Street drinking in particular has required Council led multi-agency interventions
over a long period. Historically being most prevalent in Central St Leonards, where
much positive work has been carried out. The Council's approach has always been
to utilise proportionate and appropriate enforcement powers, whilst also working
with partners to ensure that there is suitable specialist health and social care
available, such as for alcohol and substance abuse.
24. With the help of East Sussex County Council, the Hastings and Rother Clinical
Commissioning Group, and other organisations responsible for commissioning
health and social care services, Hastings has a very well developed range of
support services for vulnerable members of our community such as street drinkers
and the homeless.
25. However, in the last 2 years, like many other seaside towns, Hastings has
experienced an escalation of ASB associated with the street community. Perhaps
the most obvious example being the significant increase in the number of people
congregating in the town centre drinking alcohol in Wellington Place outside Sports
Direct, McDonalds and Pound Stretcher.
26. Last Summer on a daily basis the public seating area in Wellington Place was the
venue for large groups of street drinkers, but also later in the day for groups of
younger people, some of school age. The number of people involved and the
intimidating nature of their behaviour meant that the general public mostly avoided
the area, and local businesses complained that this had a serious impact on
business in the town centre. The area concerned is a 'pinch point' between the
pedestrianised areas of the town centre, the seafront, and the main routes to the
Old Town, where the majority of shoppers and tourists will pass down Wellington
Place and through the underpass heading for Pelham Place, the seafront and the
Old Town.
27. The Council received many complaints from residents, businesses, and visitors
about the behaviour of the wider street community in this area of the town, and the
impact it was having. They cited ASB associated with alcohol and substance
abuse, including drunkenness, fights, intimidating and threatening behaviour,
human waste, drugs paraphernalia, and other litter, rubbish and dog control issues.
Report Template v29.0

Page 59

28. However, these issues are not restricted to the area described above and have
affected other areas of the town including the foreshore, Harold Place underpass
and Carlisle Parade underground car park, Station Plaza, parts of St Leonards and
the Old Town, Cinque Ports Way, as well as some of our parks and gardens.
29. Last Summer in response to complaints, the Let's Do Business Town Centre
Manager and our Community Safety Manager carried out a survey of town centre
businesses. Many of the responses highlighted serious concerns about the
negative impact of the street community on the sustainability of the local economy,
and the impact it might have on external investment from businesses considering
opening in Hastings.
30. Although it's easy to understand the sort of concerns raised by residents,
businesses and visitors, perhaps the most important reason that the authorities
need to address this escalating issue is to reduce the negative impact on the health
of the street community, and the other vulnerable people their presence attracts.
31. As stated last year by the Leader of the Council: "The consequences of becoming a
street drinker aren’t good. Street drinkers have a life expectancy of 46, but this is
misleading – their lives as street drinkers are probably no more than four or five
years. It’s a very self-destructive lifestyle".
32. Last Summer there was evidence of very young vulnerable people beginning to
associate with the wider street community congregating in the town centre, and it's
essential that the authorities work together to address this.
33. Chief Inspector Steve Curry, Police Commander for Hastings and Rother has
endorsed the Council's proposals and advised that: "Sussex Police supports
Hastings Borough Council’s proposal for the introduction of a Public Spaces
Protection Order. The police consider this a necessary and proportionate step to
enable the local authority, police and partners to address the serious anti-social
behaviour within the wider street community. Local surveys and analysis provides
evidence of the significant community impact and harm experienced through this
sustained anti-social behaviour associated with alcohol and substance misuse.
Sussex Police are committed to working with the Council and partners to enforce
ASB powers, under the terms of the PSPO, as part of a balanced package of
measures of enforcement and support to address the entrenched issues that exist".
Legal powers and best practice
34. In the absence of detailed operational guidance on the new ASB powers uptake
has been mixed. Some Councils were quick to make PSPOs for their district, but
then had to withdraw or amend them due to legal challenges from groups objecting
to the nature of the restrictions the local authority was trying to introduce. For
example in relation to rough sleeping and begging.
35. The Chief Legal Officer, Community Safety Manager and colleagues in our
enforcement services have researched the developing best practice, including
looking at the experience of early adopters, and recently a visit to Thanet with
Police colleagues.

Report Template v29.0

Page 60

36. The Home Office guidance states that: "A PSPO can be used to restrict the
consumption of alcohol in a public space where the test has been met. However, as
with the Designated Public Place Order which it replaces, there are a number of
limitations on using the power for this end". These are exemptions for licensed
premises operating within the PSPO area.
37. In Hastings the existing Designated Public Places Order (DPPO) introduced in
2005, covers the entire borough. The DPPO doesn’t prohibit the consumption of
alcohol in public places, but it does allow a police officer to require the surrender of
alcohol in a public place, if it appears that a person is causing a nuisance or
annoyance or disorder associated with the consumption of alcohol.
38. Last November the National Consortium of Police and Crime Commissioners
published guidance called "Tackling Street Drinking", and this highlights the
following key factors in addressing this common issue affecting many town
centres: A multi-agency approach including joint action planning;
 Good assertive outreach/support services to help address drug and alcohol
dependency and mental health issues;
 Focusing on the most prolific offenders as this will have the greatest positive
impact for the community;
 Use of the new ASB powers, particularly PSPOs and civil injunctions and antisocial behaviour contracts;
 Use of the civil injunctions to require the recipient to engage positively with
specified support services.
39. As set out in the Police Commissioners guidance, enforcement is only one part of a
successful strategy to address street community issues. Assertive and effective
health and wellbeing support services are also essential. But PSPOs are clearly an
essential part of the overall strategy.
Action already taken to address the street community issues
40. In light of the issues described above, the Council's Director of Operational
Services convened meetings with senior managers of all of the authorities
responsible for commissioning and delivering services associated with the wider
street community. The group includes representation from the Council, the Police,
East Sussex County Council youth services and social and caring services, the
Clinical Commissioning Group, and Hastings Voluntary Action.
41. The organisations involved are committed to working together to address the wider
street community issues, on the basis of a 'task force approach'. A joint action plan
is being developed encompassing a range of measures including: Physical changes to the built environment in Wellington Place, such as
planting/landscaping/public art etc.
 The potential for different uses for the public seating area in Wellington Place,
such as by pop up businesses.
Report Template v29.0

Page 61

 The potential for the Council to pilot the use of a specialist environmental
enforcement contractor to tackle littering and dog control offences with a small
dedicated team of Enforcement Officers supplementing the Council's Warden
Team.
 Introducing PSPOs aimed at restricting the abuse of alcohol and drugs and
general ASB associated with the wider street community in specified public
places.
 Developing the role of the Council's Warden Team in order to provide effective
enforcement of the new ASB powers within the PSPOs. Our Wardens will need
to achieve community safety scheme accreditation from Sussex Police. This will
enable them to be authorised to use additional powers which are otherwise only
available to the Police. For example requiring the surrender of alcohol, and
requiring a person suspected of committing an offence to provide their name and
address.
 Police support for the Council's enforcement services.
 Consideration of more focussed work with the street community, such as by
youth services and health and welbeing services.
42. Some of these matters are set out in more detail in another report on this Cabinet
agenda titled: "Improving the Hastings Street Scene".
43. A PSPO addressing the wider street community issues is therefore essential to the
success of this multi-agency project.

Process for consulting on the Council's PSPO proposals
44. Two PSPOs have been drafted for Hastings, one addressing dog control issues,
and the other addressing the street community issues. They are attached at
appendices 2 and 3.
45. Before making a PSPO, the Council must consult with the local police. This should
be done formally through the chief officer of police and the Police and Crime
Commissioner, but details can be agreed by working level leads. This is an
opportunity for the police and Council to share information about the area and the
problems being caused as well as discuss the practicalities of enforcement. In
addition, the owner or occupier of the land should be consulted. This should include
the County Council (if the PSPO application is not being led by them) where they
are the Highway Authority. In our case we have been developing these ideas in
conjunction with senior colleagues within East Sussex County Council and the
Police.
46. The Council must also consult whatever community representatives they think
appropriate. This could relate to a specific group, for instance a residents
association, or an individual or group of individuals, for instance, regular users of a
park or specific activities such as busking or other types of street entertainment.
Before the PSPO is made, the Council also has to publish the draft Order in
accordance with regulations published by the Secretary of State.
47. It is proposed that we should consult widely on both PSPOs, but limit the
consultation to 4 weeks, starting in March and ending in April. As well as media
Report Template v29.0

Page 62

releases, information on our website, and contacting the statutory consultees
(Police, Police and Crime Commissioner and East Sussex County Council as the
Highways Authority), the Foreshore Trust. We will also approach the Hastings
Observer suggesting they produce an article on the proposals. We will also identify
key stakeholders such as dog clubs in relation to the PSPO for dog controls, the St
Leonards Gardens petitioners from last December, and groups working with the
local street community. Under Section 74 of the Act the draft text of the Orders will
need to be published.
48. There is also a requirement to put up notices on land to which the Orders relate.
The notices must be sufficient to draw the attention of any member of the public to
the fact that the Order is proposed and then made.

Process for implementing the Council's PSPO proposals
49. Upon completion of the consultation process it is proposed that in consultation with
the Lead Member for Environment and Place, Officers will review feedback and
amend the draft Order as appropriate and report the finalised PSPOs to Cabinet,
seeking approval for the Chief Legal Officer to formally make the Orders in May.
50. Any challenge to the PSPO must be made in the High Court by an interested
person within six weeks of it being made. An interested person is someone who
lives in, regularly works in, or visits the restricted area. This means that only those
who are directly affected by the restrictions have the power to challenge. This right
to challenge also exists where an order is varied by a Council.
51. Interested persons can challenge the validity of a PSPO on two grounds. They
could argue that the Council did not have power to make the Order, or to include
particular prohibitions or requirements, perhaps because there was insufficient
evidence of a particular problem. In addition, the interested person could argue
that one of the requirements (for instance consultation) had not been complied with.
52. When the application is made, the High Court can decide to suspend the operation
of the PSPO pending the verdict in part or in totality. The High Court has the ability
to uphold the PSPO, quash it, or vary it.

Reviewing the Council's enforcement policy for environmental and
street scene offences
53. As set out in another report on this Cabinet Agenda (Improving the Hastings Street
Scene), there is a need to review and update the Council's current enforcement
policy and operational guidance for environmental and street scene offences. That
report seeks approval for the Assistant Director Environment and Place, in
consultation with the Lead Member for Environment and Place, the Director of
Operational Services and the Chief Legal Officer, to review and update the
Councils enviro-crime enforcement policy on an ongoing basis as and when
necessary. This flexible approach will enable the appropriate changes to be made
in parallel with the introduction of the Hastings Public Space Protection Orders.
54. This is necessary because to some extent this enforcement policy will inform our
Warden's enforcement choices in relation to the new PSPOs, where the use of
Community Protection Warnings and Notices, and the associated FPNs may be
Report Template v29.0

Page 63

important. The maximum level of these FPNs is £100 and it is suggested that they
should be set at this maximum for the greatest deterrent effect.

Financial Implications
55. There are additional costs associated with the introduction and enforcement of the
PSPOs. For example in relation to: The consultation process;
 Enforcing the dog control and ASB PSPOs;
 New signage notifying the general public that certain behaviours are restricted in
specified areas of the borough.
56. Apart from the new signage, it's anticipated that the costs can be met from within
existing budgets. Details of the new signage will be obtained during the
consultation and costs estimated.
57. If the Council proceed with the 12 month pilot scheme working with a specialist
environmental enforcement contractor, as suggested in the "Improving the Hastings
Street Scene" report, enforcement of the new dog control PSPOs will be more
effective than our existing arrangements, and may generate additional income that
can be used to offset the costs of operating the PSPOs.

Other Policy Implications
58. The 2 PSPOs should have a positive impact on the local environment, crime and
fear of crime, and local people's views. As they should result in less ASB in public
places such as the town centre, and less ASB arising from irresponsible dog
ownership issues, and therefore a better quality of life for residents, and possibly
also for the street community.
59. From an equalities and community cohesiveness perspective, the ASB issues
associated with the wider street community have generated a lot of complaints and
probably undermined community cohesiveness. It is hoped that if the ASB PSPO
is implemented community cohesiveness will improve, and enforcement linked with
assertive outreach support will help vulnerable members of the street community to
address their health and wellbeing issues, and improve their quality of life.
60. All of the agencies that will be involved with the PSPOs are aware of the need to
ensure that the people they are working with are not discriminated against.
Whether they are offenders or potential victims of crime, or both. The purpose of
the PSPOs is to address unacceptable anti-social behaviours displayed by an
individual and not targeting any specific group or type of person based upon their
race, gender, religion etc. The welfare and safeguarding of vulnerable people will
be considered by the officers enforcing the PSPOs, for example in relation to
mental health.
61. As described earlier in this report, there are organisational implications for the
Council's Warden Team, as we need to develop their role to help address the
emerging ASB issues and enforce the PSPOs. Management will liaise with the
Report Template v29.0

Page 64

Executive Manager of People, Customer and Business Support in this respect, as
well as the staff and their representatives.
Wards Affected
All Wards
Policy Implications
Please identify if this report contains any implications for the following:
Equalities and Community Cohesiveness
Crime and Fear of Crime (Section 17)
Risk Management
Environmental Issues
Economic/Financial Implications
Human Rights Act
Organisational Consequences
Local People’s Views
Anti-Poverty

Yes
Yes
No
Yes
Yes
No
Yes
Yes
No

Additional Information
Anti-social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014: Reform of anti-social behaviour
powers - Statutory guidance for frontline professionals published by the Home Office
July 2014
Tackling Street Drinking - Police and Crime Commissioner Guidance on Best Practice published by the National Consortium of Police and Crime Commissioners November
2016
Supporting evidence of the nature and scale of the anti-social behaviour associated
with the wider street community in Hastings, prepared by the Council's Community
Safety Manager during 2016 and 2017. Including reports and statements from Sussex
Police, local Councillors and members of the public.

Appendices
Appendix 1 - Hastings Borough Council leaflet summarising existing dog controls.
Appendix 2 - Draft Public Spaces Protection Order (No 1) - Hastings Borough Council
2017
Appendix 3 - Draft Public Spaces Protection Order (No 2) - Hastings Borough Council
2017
Officer to Contact
Mike Hepworth - Assistant Director Environment and Place
Report Template v29.0

Page 65

mhepworth@hastings.gov.uk
01424 783332

Report Template v29.0

Page 66

Page 67

Page 68

Page 69

Page 70

Page 71

Page 72

Page 73

Page 74

Page 75

Page 76

Page 77

Page 78

Page 79

Page 80

Page 81

Page 82

Page 83

Page 84

Page 85

Page 86

Page 87

Page 88

Page 89

Page 90

Page 91

Page 92

The Anti-Social Behaviour Crime and Policing Act 2014
The Public Spaces Protection Order (No 2) – Hastings Borough Council 2017
In exercise of the power under Section 59 of the Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014
(the Act) being satisfied that the conditions set out in Section 59 of the Act have been met Hastings
Borough Council (in this order called “the Authority”) hereby makes the following Order
This Order comes into effect on (enter date) 2017 for a period of 3 years.
This Order relates to various public spaces within the Borough. The plan of the whole Borough is at
Appendix One (Map 1), being public space in the Council’s area to which the Act applies.
The effect of the Order is to impose the following prohibitions at all times within the relevant
Restricted Areas:BY THIS ORDER
A – Prohibition on Drinking in Public Place Restricted Area (land hatched black – Maps A.2.A,
A.2.B, and A.2.C))
1. All persons are restricted from drinking alcohol in any public place located within the
restricted area (see maps A.2.A, A.2.B and A.2.C). This provision does not apply to alcohol
being consumed within premises licensed under the Licensing Act 2003 or S115E of the
Highways Act 1980
2. Where an authorised person reasonably believes that a person is consuming alcohol or has
been consuming alcohol in breach of this Order (maps A.1, A.2.A, A.2.B, and A.2.C) ; or
where an authorised person reasonably believes that a person intends to consume alcohol in
circumstances which would be a breach of this Order, then the authorised person can take
the following steps;
a) To prohibit the person from consuming alcohol or anything which the authorised person
reasonably believes is an alcoholic beverage in breach of this Order; and
b) To require that the person must surrender any alcohol, or anything which the authorised
person reasonably believes to be alcohol, that is in the person’s possession including a
container for alcohol.
B – Prohibition on Psychoactive substances (so-called ‘Legal Highs’) Restricted Area (land
hatched black Map B.1)
3. All persons are prohibited from ingesting, inhaling, injecting or smoking, any substance
which has the capacity to stimulate or depress the central nervous system
4. This prohibition does not apply where:
a) The substance is used for valid and demonstrable medicinal purpose;
b) The substance is given to an animal as a medicinal remedy
c) The substance is a cigarette (tobacco) or vaporiser; or
d) The substance is a food product regulated by food, health and safety legislation

Page 93

Persons within this area who breach this prohibition shall: surrender psych0active
substances in his/her possession to an authorised person.
For the purposes of the above prohibitions an ‘Authorised Person’ means a constable, a
police community support officer or a person so authorised by Hastings Borough Council.
Disposal of the alcohol or psychoactive substance may be undertaken by the authorised
person in whatever way he or she thinks fit.
C – Prohibition on Anti-Social Behaviour within the Restricted Area (land hatched black. Map
C.1)
5. All persons are prohibited from intentionally or recklessly, shouting, swearing, screaming or
acting in a manner to cause, or likely to cause, annoyance, harassment, alarm or distress to
any person.
D - Prohibition on aggressive begging within the Restricted Area (Map 1)
6. All persons are prohibited from loitering around Cash Machines and shop entrances for the
purposes of begging. For the purposes of this prohibition, loitering means ‘standing or
waiting around without apparent purpose’ Begging is not limited to approaching people
and/or asking for money, or placing a receptacle for donation.
E - Prohibition on sleeping in vehicles within the Restricted Area (land hatched black. Map D.1)
7. All persons are prohibited from spending the night in their vehicles when parked at Cinque
Ports Way.
EXEMPTIONS
Nothing in Prohibition A, 1 & 2 (alcohol) shall apply to:(a) Premises authorised by a premises licence to be used for the supply of alcohol
(b) Premises authorised by a club premises certificate to be used by the club for the supply of
alcohol
(c) A place within the curtilage of premises within paragraph (a) or (b)
(d) Premises which by virtue of Pt 5 of the Licensing Act 2003 may at the relevant time be used
for the supply of alcohol or which, by virtue of that Part, could have been so used within 30
minutes before that time;
(e) A place where facilities or activities relating to the sale or consumption of alcohol are at the
relevant time permitted by virtue of a permission granted under S115 of the Highways Act
1980 (highway related uses)
(f) Council-operated licensed premises(i)
When the premises are being used for the supply of alcohol, or
(ii)
Within 30 minutes after the end of a period during which the premises have been
used for the supply of alcohol.
OFFENCES
a) If, without reasonable excuse, a person is found to be in breach any of the prohibitions or
requirements in respect of activities B-E above, they will commit a criminal offence for which

Page 94

the maximum penalty upon summary conviction is a fine not exceeding level 3 on the
standard scale.
b) In respect of activity A above, namely the consumption of alcohol in a public place, whilst it
is not an offence in the same way as activities B-E, it is an offence if a person fails, with any
reasonable excuse, to comply with an authorised person’s request as per paragraph 2 a) and
b) above. An authorised person who imposes a requirement under paragraph 2 a) or 2 b)
must tell the person that failing without reasonable excuse to comply with the requirement
is an offence.
c) In the event of such a failure, a person will commit a criminal offence for which the
maximum penalty upon summary conviction is a fine not exceeding level 2 on the standard
scale.

Fixed Penalties
a) An authorised person may issue a fixed penalty notice (FPN) of up to £100 to anyone
he or she has reason to believe has committed an offence as described above.
b) A FPN is a notice offering the person to whom it is issued the opportunity of
discharging any liability to conviction for the offence by payment of a fixed penalty
to a local authority specified in the notice.
c) Where a person is issued with a notice under this section in respect of an offence;
i)
No proceedings may be taken for the offence before the end of the period of
14 days following the date of the notice, and
ii)
The person may not be convicted of the offence if the person pays the fixed
penalty before the end of that period.
d) A FPN will give reasonably detailed particulars of the circumstances alleged to
constitute the offence, it will state the period during which proceedings will not be
taken for the offence; it will specify the amount of fixed penalty; it will state the
name and address of the person to whom the fixed penalty may be paid and specify
the permissible methods of payment.

THE COMMON SEAL of HASTINGS
BOROUGH COUNCIL was hereunto affixed the (Enter Date)
In the presence of
Authorised Signatory

Page 95

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 97

Page 98

D
ROA
AD
RO
CASTLE

NP
LAC
E

IL
L
H
E
GA

S
EN
D
R

BREEDS PLACE

PLA
CE

GTO

CA
ST
L

N
TO

W
EL
LI
N

RO
EN
S
QU
E

PLACE

CLAREMONT

PEL
HAM
STR
EET

AD

E

CE
PLA

LE PAR
CARLIS

WEL
LIN

OLD

PROSPEC
T

O
ALBERT R

HAR

C
TERRA

S

HI
LL
PA
SS
AG
E

G

AD

ADE
LE PAR
CARLIS

GE
PASSA

ARD E
N

SQ

O

N

AR
E

R

UA
RE

K

R

SO
RT
E
B
O

R
ST

T
EE

SQ
U

C

CE
LA
P
L'S
AE

TREET
TSON S
ROBER

N
SO
RT
BE
O
R

YORK
G

E

W
EL
LIN

O
EL
AV

Page 99
CH
MI
ST

CAMBRIDGE ROAD

TRINITY STREET

CA
ST
L

GT
ON

ET

SS
EL
L

ST
RE

RU

DL
E

H

ET
TRE

NS
RDE
E GA

S
RY

G
BRID

IO
PR

CAM

COR NWALLI
S GARDEN S

MI
D

ST
RE
ET

E

AD

±

CORNWALLIS TERR
AC

P
ARK
DENM

LAC E

ADE

Public Spaces Protection Order (No 2)
Hastings Borough Council 2017
Map A.2.A
Prohibition on Drinking in Public Place

© Crown Copyright and database rights [2017]. OS [100021328].
Use of this data is subject to terms and conditions. You are granted a non-exclusive,
royalty free, revocable licence solely to view the Licensed Data for non-commercial
purposes for the period during which Hastings Borough Council makes it available.
You are not permitted to copy, sub-license, distribute, sell or otherwise make available
the Licenced Data to third parties in any form. Third party rights to enforce the
terms of this licence shall be reserved to OS.

1:2,500

AD
RO
IFF

KING'S ROAD

CA
RD

AD

O

R

SA
Y

OAD

O
TH

R
LEN

OA D

R

DA
MAG

E'S R

'S R

OAD

'S TE

ARE
SQU

E
UAR
R SQ

T
ARE
ARG
ST M

T
ARE
ARG
ST M

R
RIO
WAR

CE
RRA

AD E
PAR

E

© Crown Copyright and database rights [2017]. OS [100021328].
Use of this data is subject to terms and conditions. You are granted a non-exclusive,
royalty free, revocable licence solely to view the Licensed Data for non-commercial
purposes for the period during which Hastings Borough Council makes it available.
You are not permitted to copy, sub-license, distribute, sell or otherwise make available
the Licenced Data to third parties in any form. Third party rights to enforce the
terms of this licence shall be reserved to OS.

ND
GRA

UAR

GARDNER
WAY

MAR INA

e
enad
Prom

O
SAX

RIO
WAR

OAD

D
RO A

R SQ

IA

D

D
RO A
MAN
sage
NOR
t Pas
e
k
r
ET
Ma
T RE
ET S
K
R
MA

UNDERCLIFF

T
REE
N ST

RIO
WAR

T
REE

T

D ST

T
REE
S ST
RO S

E
TRE
TH S
SOU

TOR
MER CA

MEWS
HAROLD

MAZE HILL

QUARRY HILL
BURTON WAY

OA
MEWS R

R
PHE
SHE

A
VILL

E

D

ET
TRE
TH S
R
O
N

LA
W
N

C

UAR

EET
STR

ld

E

AD

RED
ALF

ROA

DS

RO

D
RO A

sfie
Ever

UAR

N
LA

RT
H

AD

T
REE
N ST
ws
UNIO
r Me
este
Silch

UP
E
TH L
L
HI

Page 100

TH
E

O

SILC

TER
HES

RO

ANE

ZE
MA

KE
NI
LW

AD

H

C
PRIN

RO

KL
EI
G

R SQ

KE

OAD

R SQ

O

D
RO A

O

ST
OC

ER
RAC
TER

RIO
WAR

CA
RI
SB
R

R
ARD
EDW

RCH

AD

S
DEN
GAR

RIO
WAR

AD

O

RL
LASE

O

R

R

AD

R

KE

N RO
TER
WES
h
Nort

RT
H

O

RIO
WAR

s
Mew

O

O

OA D

IL
W

IS
BR

OA
D

ON R

KE
N

AR

CHU

C

D
LON

±

PE
VE
NS
EY
R

e
enad
Prom

Public Spaces Protection Order (No 2)
Hastings Borough Council 2017
Map A.2.B
Prohibition on Drinking in Public Place

1:3,500

SW
AN
TE
R

HIL
LS
TR

HIG

EE
T

PL
AC

e
assag
Oak P

E
LAN
L
SHE

The
C

US

ES
T RE
ET

CO
UR
TH
O

US

E

ST
R

EAC
EAST B

reek

EE
T
CR

WIN
D

I NG

STR
EET

EAS
T

EAST BEACH STREET

BO
U

RN

OW
N

LAN
E

E

ROC K-A-NORE ROAD

ET
H STRE

L

NL

ANE

MARINE PARADE

ANE

E

R LANE

tt
de

IO
ALB

RG

T
ES
W

ag
e

REET
EAST ST

L
SUN

CUTTE

r
Bu
e
ac
Pl

Page 101
O
GE

ET
RE
T
S

ET
RE
T
S

RA
CE

Pa
ss

CO
UR
THO

EE
T

H

E

LE
ST
CA

R
ILL

Church

D
OA

HS
TR

±

DE
RA
A
P

Public Spaces Protection Order (No 2)
Hastings Borough Council 2017
Map A.2.C
Prohibition on Drinking in Public Place

© Crown Copyright and database rights [2017]. OS [100021328].
Use of this data is subject to terms and conditions. You are granted a non-exclusive,
royalty free, revocable licence solely to view the Licensed Data for non-commercial
purposes for the period during which Hastings Borough Council makes it available.
You are not permitted to copy, sub-license, distribute, sell or otherwise make available
the Licenced Data to third parties in any form. Third party rights to enforce the
terms of this licence shall be reserved to OS.

1:2,000

±

Page 102
Public Spaces Protection Order (No 2)
Hastings Borough Council 2017
Map B.1
Prohibition on Psychoactive Substances
© Crown Copyright and database rights [2017]. OS [100021328].
Use of this data is subject to terms and conditions. You are granted a non-exclusive,
royalty free, revocable licence solely to view the Licensed Data for non-commercial
purposes for the period during which Hastings Borough Council makes it available.
You are not permitted to copy, sub-license, distribute, sell or otherwise make available
the Licenced Data to third parties in any form. Third party rights to enforce the
terms of this licence shall be reserved to OS.

1:9,500

±

Page 103
Public Spaces Protection Order (No 2)
Hastings Borough Council 2017
Map C.1
Prohibition on Anti-Social Behaviour
© Crown Copyright and database rights [2017]. OS [100021328].
Use of this data is subject to terms and conditions. You are granted a non-exclusive,
royalty free, revocable licence solely to view the Licensed Data for non-commercial
purposes for the period during which Hastings Borough Council makes it available.
You are not permitted to copy, sub-license, distribute, sell or otherwise make available
the Licenced Data to third parties in any form. Third party rights to enforce the
terms of this licence shall be reserved to OS.

1:11,500

±
LR
BEXHIL

OAD

OAD

QU

E WAY
SEASID

CIN
EP
Y
WA
TS
OR

AGE
E PASS
SEASID

ILL R
BEXH

IDE R
SEAS

OAD

Page 104
Public Spaces Protection Order (No 2)
Hastings Borough Council 2017
Map D.1
Prohibition on Sleeping in Vehicles
© Crown Copyright and database rights [2017]. OS [100021328].
Use of this data is subject to terms and conditions. You are granted a non-exclusive,
royalty free, revocable licence solely to view the Licensed Data for non-commercial
purposes for the period during which Hastings Borough Council makes it available.
You are not permitted to copy, sub-license, distribute, sell or otherwise make available
the Licenced Data to third parties in any form. Third party rights to enforce the
terms of this licence shall be reserved to OS.

1:2,000

Agenda Item 9

Agenda Item No:
Report to:

Cabinet

Date of Meeting:

6th March 2017

Report Title:

Improving the Hastings Street Scene

Report By:

Mike Hepworth
Assistant Director Environment and Place

Purpose of Report
To provide Cabinet with details of a range of linked initiatives that will lead to improved
street scene for Hastings. They include raising public awareness about street scene
offences, a pilot with a specialist street scene enforcement contractor, and new ways of
working for the Council’s Warden Service.
Recommendation(s)
Authorise the Assistant Director Environment and Place to:1)
Implement a 12 month litter and dog control enforcement pilot with a specialist
environmental enforcement contractor;
2)
Review the pilot and assess the scope for future specialist enforcement options;
3)
In consultation with the Lead Member for Environment and Place, the Director of
Operational Services and the Chief Legal Officer, to review and update the Council's
enviro-crime enforcement policy on an ongoing basis as and when necessary. Starting
immediately with the suggested changes to the sections relating to the level of payment
for littering, dog fouling and fly tipping FPNs, and the criteria for issuing FPNs or
prosecuting for fly tipping offences. Then in parallel with the introduction of the
Hastings Public Space Protection Orders, the use of the new anti-social behaviour
(ASB) powers.
4)
In consultation with the Council's Executive Manager of People, Customer and
Business Support develop the Council's Warden service into a service better able to
address the emerging ASB agenda and enforcing Public Spaces Protection Orders.
Reasons for Recommendations
The work set out in this report will contribute to the Council's vision for a safer cleaner
town, and in the longer term reduce the cost of environmental services such as those
associated with street cleansing and environmental enforcement.

$delarq0r.doc
Report Template v25.0

Page 105

Page 1 of 10

Background
1. Enviro-crime and anti-social behaviour (ASB) affecting the quality of the street
scene in Hastings has long been a serious issue. The main concerns are: Littering;
 Dog Fouling;
 Fly tipping including small amounts of waste dumped in black sacks, and bulky
items often associated with the private rented housing sector.
2. Since 2008/9 the Council's Street Wardens have actively enforced littering and dog
control offences, issuing from 200 to 250 Fixed Penalty Notices (FPNs) every year,
as well as prosecuting offenders who refuse to pay the FPNs. We generally seek
to publicise any prosecutions through media releases, as a deterrent to other
offenders.
3. However, the Warden Service has a limited capacity, which has been reduced as
the service has been progressively downsized, and then restructured in 2012 when
East Sussex County Council (ESCC) terminated the local agency agreement for on
street parking enforcement, and outsourced the work to a private contractor. For
example in 2009 there were 12 Warden staff primarily responsible for enviro-crime
and dog control enforcement, as well as 19 Civil Enforcement staff carrying out on
and off street parking enforcement. Whereas we now have only 8 Wardens and 2
Lead Wardens covering everything the old Warden Service did in 2009, plus the off
street parking enforcement work that the large dedicated parking enforcement team
used to do.
4. At that time we merged the remaining off street parking enforcement service with
our street warden service, forming a relatively small generic Street Warden team
covering a wider range of functions including: Off street car parking enforcement;
 The Wardens help our small waste team monitor our contractor performance
through daily checks, such as those relating to the waste and cleansing
contractor, and the public conveniences cleansing contractor. A large proportion
of the service requests reported on My Hastings for street cleansing/litter bin
issues are made by the Wardens.
 Enviro-crime and dog control enforcement such as for littering and dog fouling,
including patrolling hotspots;
 Dealing with abandoned vehicles and getting them removed;
 Investigating a range of other anti-social behaviour/low level crime and disorder
issues, such as last year when they dealt with the tents on the beach/foreshore,
and illegal camping at Cinque Ports Way, which had the potential for major
negative impact on local tourism and the businesses that depend upon it.
 Locking and unlocking Council buildings and car parks every day and night as a
more cost effective alternative to the previous arrangements where we paid a
security contractor to do this;

Page 106

 The Wardens liaise with the organisers of large public events that affect our car
parks, such as on May Day, Carnival and Bonfire;
 Providing back up for other services such as the environmental health out of
hours service, and our pest control operative;
 Security such as at polling stations during elections, and at public meetings as
and when necessary;
 The Wardens are our main human resource if we have to implement the
Council’s severe weather event response plan, driving our small gritting vehicles;
5. As mentioned above our Street Wardens are assuming the lead role for the Council
in addressing the emerging street community ASB issues associated with the
welfare reforms and changes to local policing priorities. As a result, it has become
clear that the role of our Wardens needs to be reviewed and priorities set for their
future development.
6. For example, although the Police and Crime Commissioner and our local Police
Commander have supported our proposals for introducing Public Space Protection
Orders (PSPOs) to address drug, alcohol, and ASB issues associated with the
wider street community, they have also made it clear that they expect the Council
to deliver much of the enforcement, some of it in partnership with them.
7. The current team does not have the capacity to meet this multi-faceted agenda.
New resources and a clear sense of priorities are required.

Consequences of Negative Street Scene
8. Littering, dog fouling and fly tipping has consequences including: The need to spend about £80,000 pa on removing bulky fly tips through our
waste and cleansing contractor Kier;
 The potential for a negative impact on the local economy, for example tourism;
 The need to spend more on general street cleansing contract costs than would
be necessary if there was a lower level of offending.
9. The Council receives many complaints from residents, businesses and visitors, and
our budget is essentially subsidising the anti-social minority that refuse to act
responsibly and in compliance with the law. The general public and business
regularly highlight littering and fouling as serious issues to Members.

Options for Improving the Hastings Street Scene
10. Officers have explored several options including the following.
Public Awareness Raising and Behaviour Change
11. We recently started a high profile behaviour change campaign using social media
materials and posters focussed on littering and dog fouling. There has been a big
positive public response to the campaign, with lots of people asking for a more
rigorous and robust approach to enforcement against people committing these
common offences, as well as helpful intelligence on where and when offending is
taking place.

Page 107

12. This campaign will be sustained for the next few months, and will also be
developed to address fly tipping. However, although we expect it to result in some
behaviour change amongst offenders, experience from previous campaigns
suggests this will be limited.
13. Our Wardens have already had some success issuing additional FPNs resulting
from intelligence received through the campaign, and we will publicise this.
However, our Wardens don't have the capacity to make a significant impact on
offending behaviour in the longer term.
Working with Specialist Environmental Enforcement Contractors
14. For over 10 years specialist contractors have been delivering specific
environmental enforcement services for local authorities. The market for these
services appears to be expanding, as just one national operator currently has over
30 local authority clients, and is planning to mobilise about a dozen more in the
near future.
15. Over the years there has been quite controversial media coverage of some of these
services, as people caught by them committing enviro-crime and dog control
offences have accused them and the local authority of being over-zealous, and of
using the income generated from FPNs as a cash cow. There have also been
allegations that the enforcement officers employed by the contractors are paid very
poorly and incentivised to issue as many FPNs as possible, resulting in poor quality
FPNs and the need for many to be quashed.
16. However, feedback from other local authorities using specialist enforcement
contractors is that they respond quickly to serious complaints, and where
appropriate take prompt action to address the issues. Careful training of the
contractor's staff on the Council's enforcement policy relating to littering and dog
control offences is clearly essential, as is the need for the contractor's staff to
receive a decent wage that isn't reliant upon bonuses for meeting FPN targets. It's
also worth noting that from time to time the Council's in-house enforcement
services are subject to such complaints, and occasionally FPNs have been
quashed.
17. We have held discussions with 2 operators and the business models are similar.
They typically provide the following, which address the potential issues outlined in
paragraph 15: A dedicated team of 4 to 5 uniformed enforcement officers operating 5 or 6 days
a week issuing an estimated 4 FPNs each per day. It would be focussed on
enviro-crime and dog control enforcement 100% of the time.
 They would share intelligence with Council services, and deploy to hotspots for
offending identified in partnership with the Council.
 The contractor would recruit and intensively train the enforcement officers
working to the Council's relevant enforcement policies. They would try to recruit
locally, and often employ people with police or military experience.
 The Enforcement Officers wear different uniforms to our Wardens with
"Enforcement Officer" on the back and the Council's logo on the front, but they
would be issued with formal ID cards and enforcement authorisations the same
as our Wardens.

Page 108

 The contractor's staff are paid a set hourly rate which is linked to the
geographical area they patrol, and is above both the national minimum wage
and the accredited living wage. They are also sometimes paid discretionary
competency allowances based on key competencies such as attendance,
punctuality, positive public and customer feedback. They are employed on the
basis of either a 40 or 48 hour week, whichever they prefer.
 The contractor is responsible for all management and administration associated
with the service, and deals with all representations against FPNs issued.
 The contractor can also be responsible for much of the legal work associated
with prosecuting for non-payment of FPNs. They prepare the prosecution files
for the Council's lawyers to use for the Court proceedings.
 The contractor provides regular routine performance reports for the Council.
 Various payment models exist ranging from the Council paying an hourly rate or
price per FPN issued, to profit sharing options, and an option whereby the
service doesn't cost the Council anything and there is still the potential for some
profit sharing.
 The contractors operate rigorous quality control systems to ensure that
sustainable representations against FPNs requiring them to be quashed should
be the exception not the rule.
 The contractors operate fully automated administration and FPN issuing
systems, and store all the relevant data electronically and in accordance with
data protection requirements.
 The Enforcement Officers all wear and operate body worn cameras providing an
audio and visual record of every FPN issued, which helps with transparency,
reducing representations/complaints, and improving health and safety of the
operatives.
 The contractors achieve payment rates of about 75%, which is similar to our inhouse service. However the contractors issue far more FPNs as that is all they
are employed to do.
 The contractors would ideally prefer to operate their team from our Warden base
down in the Carlisle underground car park offices. We see advantages in this for
intelligence sharing, as well as learning about their operating procdeures as we
develop our own Warden team into a more ASB orientated service.
18. One of the 2 contractors we met with offered greater flexibility with regard to the
financial operating models, and had good experience of operating pilot schemes for
up to 12 months. These pilot schemes enable local authorities to experience the
service first hand. Many are then reported to have used this experience to develop
a contract specification and terms and conditions to procure longer term contracts
from this sector.
19. It is proposed that we should operate a 12 month pilot scheme with the preferred
contractor, and start to review it after 6 months with a view to assessing our options
for the future. These options could include deciding: Not to continue such arrangements with a specialist enforcement contractor if
the experience has been negative;
 To procure a contract for such services if the experience has been positive;

Page 109

 To consider operating such services directly via our in-house Warden service.
20. The preferred contractor has advised that they could mobilise in about 6 weeks,
and it is proposed that arrangements should be made for this 12 month pilot as
quickly as possible, with a potential start date being mid May 2017. This would
enable the pilot to have an immediate positive impact during the Summer season.
21. In the weeks immediately before the pilot commences we will issue media releases
about it, giving clear examples of the offences that will attract FPNs, including
dropping smoking related litter as this is probably the commonest offence
nationwide.

Reviewing and Developing the Role of the Council's Warden Service
22. The Government welfare reforms and cuts to Police budgets are resulting in
emerging new issues for our Warden service, particularly in relation to the wider
street community. Subject to Cabinet approval, implementation of the new Public
Space Protection Orders for Hastings is imminent, and the key restrictive features
will relate to drugs and alcohol and the related ASB.
23. In order to provide effective enforcement of the new ASB powers our Wardens will
need to achieve community safety scheme accreditation from Sussex Police. This
will enable them to be authorised to use additional powers which are otherwise only
available to the Police. For example requiring the surrender of alcohol, and
requiring a person suspected of committing an offence to provide their name and
address. Sussex police have advised that obtaining accreditation will take up to 6
months.
24. Also bearing in mind the potentially more confrontational nature of the new ASB
work, we will also want our Wardens to operate body worn cameras, as used by the
Police, other Warden services and specialist enforcement contractors.
25. This change in emphasis for our Wardens will clearly require new management
systems, risk assessments, and standard operating procedures, as well as some
retraining in relation to the new enforcement powers, and operational equipment
such as body worn cameras.
26. The 12 month plot with the specialist environmental enforcement contractor will
help with this transition in several ways: Firstly by creating some time for the Warden service to implement the
operational changes required;
 Secondly by working from the same offices we will be able to share intelligence
and learn from the contractors best practice;
 Finally working in such close proximity will also help us to review the success of
the 12 month pilot and develop our options for the future.

Fly Tipping in Hastings
27. The nature of fly tipping in Hastings is unlike that typically experienced elsewhere.
Our fly tipping tends to be mostly very small scale and is often associated with the
irresponsible clearance of private rented flats. Much of this is dumped in built up

Page 110

areas overnight and there is often no evidence of who did it or exactly where it
came from.
28. It’s hard to get good enough evidence to either issue an FPN or to prosecute.
Residents will report the fact that something has been dumped, but will seldom of
seen who did it, or even if they have witnessed the offence occurring they are
generally not willing to provide a witness statement and to appear in Court.
29. This is different to what many people think of as fly tipping. When unlicensed
waste contractors and/or builders tip large volumes of waste in remote laybys or on
waste land.
30. People sometimes suggest that the Council should deploy mobile CCTV cameras
to capture evidence of fly tipping. However, this is heavily restricted through the
Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 (RIPA), and would require the Council
to apply to the Magistrates Court for approval of directed covert surveillance. Such
applications have to be very specific, and even if approved would be for no longer
than 3 months. Management of directed covert surveillance to ensure compliance
with RIPA is very onerous and time consuming. This is because a great deal of
care needs to be taken to avoid capturing images and other data associated with
people going about their lawful business(collateral intrusion).
31. It is unlikely such applications would be approved where the location of the
operation would be a very public place such as a busy residential street. Whereas
covert surveillance of remote areas of land frequently used for fly tipping in more
rural districts is more likely to be authorised, as there is far less chance of collateral
intrusion. Despite these difficulties, in 2014 we successfully prosecuted someone
for fly tipping partly using evidence obtained from our CCTV system.
32. We are looking at how we can make better use of our static CCTV system to check
for evidence of who has committed fly tipping when rubbish is dumped in areas that
are covered by the system. However, the areas where much of the small scale fly
tipping occurs, such as built up residential streets in Central St Leonards are not
covered by our static CCTV system.
33. As a result of the difficulties described above, relatively few perpetrators of fly
tipping in Hastings are subject to enforcement action. We only issue about 25
FPNs a year, primarily for small fly tips of domestic waste. We are therefore
researching best practice from other local authorities with similar fly tipping issues
to ours, and hope to develop proposals to address the problem more effectively in
the near future.

Reviewing the Council's Enforcement Policy for Street Scene
Offences
34. The Council's current enforcement policy and operational guidance for
environmental and street scene offences was approved by Cabinet in October
2013. It had been developed because the Council had recently entered into an
agreement whereby the Sussex Police, Neighbourhood Policing Team in Hastings
had also been authorised to enforce common enviro-crime and irresponsible dog
ownership offences in the borough.
35. For the following reasons it is now necessary to formally review and update the
enforcement policy:-

Page 111

 The Anti-social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 introduced a range of
new ASB powers for dealing with streetscene issues, some of which have now
replaced the older powers. Good examples are the new Public Spaces
Protection Orders and Community Protection Notices.
 Proactive local authorities like Hastings are beginning to develop the use of
Community Protection Warnings and Notices in response to emerging issues
such as illegal camping/rough sleeping, as well as other low level ASB, and it is
now time that we formalised the sort of circumstances when our enforcement
staff should use these powers in our enforcement policy and operational
guidance.
 Since we first started actively issuing FPNs for littering and dog fouling in
2008/9, we have not seen any reduction in offending. In the circumstances we
need to consider increasing the deterrent effect of the FPN powers by increasing
them from the minimum statutory level to the maximum, and removing the early
payment reduction facility. This will mean increasing the basic FPNs from £75 to
£80, and stopping the reduced rate of £50 if paid within 2 weeks of service.
Interestingly the specialist enforcement contractor we want to operate our 12
month pilot has advised that all 33 of their other local authority clients have done
this, to maximise the potential for behaviour change arising from this work. They
also point out that many of the recipients of FPNs are not resident in the area
concerned, and don't appear to have serious difficulty paying.
 We need to update the policy and operational guidance relating to fly tipping to
account for the new fly tipping FPNs that can be from £150 up to £400 per
offence. In this respect we are considering introducing the scope for Officers to
choose from a number of sanctions ranging from a simple littering FPN at £80
through a banded range of specific fly tipping FPNs from £150 to £400
depending on the size of the fly tip, whether the offender is a resident or
business/employee, the nature of the materials (are they hazardous such as
asbestos or chemicals?), and whether it's a first offence.
 To some extent this enforcement policy will inform our Warden's enforcement
choices in relation to the new Public Space Protection Orders, where the use of
Community Protection Warnings and Notices, and the associated FPNs will be
important. The maximum level of these FPNs is £100 and it is suggested that
they should be set at this maximum for the greatest deterrent effect.
36. The process for introducing Public Space Protection Orders (PSPOs) to Hastings is
set out in another report on this Cabinet agenda. We will need a public
consultation on the draft PSPOs before the final version can be produced and
implemented. As part of this process we will also need to update the envirocrime/street scene enforcement policy so that the new updated policy is in place for
the PSPOs, which subject to Cabinet approval are likely to be implemented in early
Summer this year.
37. In the meantime it is proposed that the only changes made to the enforcement
policy and operational guidance are those described above relating to littering, dog
fouling and fly tipping, which should take effect immediately.

Financial Implications
38. If the Council enters into a 12 month environmental enforcement pilot scheme with
the preferred contractor on the basis that all the financial risk falls to the contractor,

Page 112

the contractor has estimated that the profit share element of the agreement may
still generate up to about £50,000 for the Council.
39. The level of income generated by the scheme will be monitored throughout the
pilot, and decisions on how the Council's share should be spent will then be made.
For example such income could be reinvested in the cost of operating the Council's
environmental services associated with cleansing and street scene enforcement,
including the corporate costs these services incur. It could also be used to fund
environmental improvements, awareness raising campaigns, educational materials,
and more responsive street cleansing services for specific areas.

Other Policy Implications
40. These initiatives should all have a positive impact on the local environment, crime
and fear of crime, and local people's views, as they should result in a better local
street scene, and therefore a better quality of life for residents.
41. It's possible that the use of a specialist enforcement contractor may lead to some
complaints, but the contractor's enforcement processes (such as the use of body
worn cameras) will actually bring greater transparency than our own existing
processes, and make dealing with representations against the issue of FPNs
easier.
42. As described in the section of this report titled: "Reviewing and Developing the Role
of the Council's Warden Service", there are organisational implications for the
Council's Warden Team, as we develop their role to help address the emerging
ASB issues. Management will liaise with the Executive Manager of People,
Customer and Business Support in this respect, as well as the staff and their
representatives.

Wards Affected
Ashdown, Baird, Braybrooke, Castle, Central St. Leonards, Conquest, Gensing,
Hollington, Maze Hill, Old Hastings, Ore, Silverhill, St. Helens, Tressell, West St.
Leonards, Wishing Tree
Area(s) Affected
Central Hastings, East Hastings, North St. Leonards, South St. Leonards
Policy Implications
Please identify if this report contains any implications for the following:
Equalities and Community Cohesiveness
Crime and Fear of Crime (Section 17)
Risk Management
Environmental Issues
Economic/Financial Implications
Human Rights Act
Organisational Consequences

No
Yes
No
Yes
Yes
No
Yes

Page 113

Local People’s Views

Yes

Background Information
Enviro-crime enforcement policy and operational guidance - approved by Cabinet 7th
October 2013.

Officer to Contact
Mike Hepworth - Assistant Director Environment and Place
01424 783332
mhepworth@hastings.gov.uk

Page 114

